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          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning,

          3  everyone. I'm Council Member Leroy Comrie. I'm Chair

          4  of the Consumer Affairs Committee. I want to thank

          5  you all for being on time this morning, and for

          6  attending this joint hearing of the Environmental

          7  Protection and Consumer Affairs Committees. The

          8  Environmental Protection Chair has a flat tire on

          9  the BQE, so he may be awhile. Hopefully he has air

         10  in his spare, or a good friend, because if you wait

         11  on AAA, you may be awhile.

         12                 I want to thank him for, you know,

         13  he's also a member of the Consumer Affairs

         14  Committee, Council Member Gennaro, as well as being

         15  the Chairperson of the Committee on Environmental

         16  Protection, for scheduling this joint hearing to

         17  discuss, among other issues, Con Edison's strategy

         18  for distributing power to consumers in the face of

         19  the City's anticipated growth and increased demand

         20  for electricity. I'd also like to thank his

         21  dedicated staff for their efforts in preparing

         22  today's meeting.

         23                 Before I go on any further, I just

         24  want to note that this is probably, unless we have

         25  an emergency meeting, my Legislative Policy
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          2  Analyst's last meeting, before he goes to law

          3  school. I just want to say thank you to Brian

          4  formally before we get started. He has been a great

          5  help to myself and the entire Committee. And I would

          6  just say that we will miss him as he moves on to

          7  furthering his ability to serve the City in a new

          8  capacity as a lawyer. I don't know if that's a good

          9  thing or a bad thing, but, you know, I'm sure that

         10  Brian will bring a lot of esteem to the profession,

         11  actually, and he will be missed.

         12                 As many of you know, the Consumer

         13  Affairs Committee has conducted a series of hearings

         14  stemming from the Queens County power outages last

         15  summer. As part of an ongoing examination of Con

         16  Edison's practices, today's meeting will review Con

         17  Ed's capital investments, and long-term strategy for

         18  network stability, including demand reduction and

         19  clean distributed generation.

         20                 It is generally agreed that the

         21  supply of and demand for electricity in New York

         22  City will significantly increase in the near future.

         23  A report released last year by the New York Building

         24  Congress concluded that the City would need an

         25  additional generating capacity between 2,400 and
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          2  3,000 megawatts to support growth over the next 20

          3  years.

          4                 Naturally an increase in supply must

          5  be accompanied by infrastructure improvements to

          6  reliably transmit the additional energy to

          7  consumers.

          8                 According to a report issued by the

          9  New York City Energy Policy Task Force, the best way

         10  for the City to meet its capacity goal will be

         11  through a combination of generation plants,

         12  transmission lines and distributed resources,

         13  including clean on-site generation, and various

         14  methods of energy efficiency, and primarily demand

         15  reduction.

         16                 In May of this year, Con Edison

         17  submitted a rate case proposal to the State's Public

         18  Service Commission, requesting to spend billions of

         19  dollars on improvements over the next three years,

         20  including 942 million on substations, 899 million on

         21  transformers, and related equipment, and 467 million

         22  on new underground primary cables.

         23                 Con Ed Chairman Kevin Burke has

         24  stated in addition to the Queens area improvements,

         25  the proposed rate case includes measures to increase
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          2  energy conservation and reduce carbon dioxide

          3  emissions.

          4                 However, the plan would also raise

          5  rates by 17 percent for a typical resident and by

          6  10.7 percent for a typical business. The rate case

          7  would further allow Con Edison to increase customer

          8  charges by another 3.2 percent in 2009, and 3.7

          9  percent in 2010.

         10                 Many people have questioned the

         11  legitimacy of Con Ed's request for such a large rate

         12  increase in the aftermath of last year's blackout.

         13                 Today we will explore all of these

         14  issues in further detail.

         15                 To speak on these questions, we have

         16  invited representatives from the City government,

         17  Con Edison, State and Federal agencies, New York

         18  City Economic Development Corp, as well as labor,

         19  small business, energy and environmental advocates.

         20  We look forward to listening to all of the

         21  witnesses' testimony.

         22                 Again, I want to thank all of you for

         23  attending today, and I see that we've been joined by

         24  Council Member Oliver Koppell, and we're going to

         25  move forward. As I said in the beginning, Councilman
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          2  Gennaro has technical difficulties with getting here

          3  with a flat tire on the BQE, so we will move right

          4  forward to hearing testimony from Con Edison.

          5                 We did invite the Administration to

          6  come, at the last minute they opted not to attend

          7  today's hearing, and as far as I know, that is still

          8  their posture at this particular point, which is a

          9  little mystifying to me, because if they wanted to

         10  talk about energy, their efforts in energy

         11  conservation, this would be a good time to do it.

         12                 So, I want to just re-register that

         13  we're not happy about that, that the Administration

         14  chose not to come, but I'm actually thankful that

         15  our staff did put together this hearing, and we look

         16  forward to hearing from Con Edison about their plans

         17  for the upcoming summer and down the line in the

         18  future.

         19                 So, with that, we are joined again by

         20  Mr. John Miksad, who is Con Edison's representative

         21  and didn't put his title on, but he is going to be

         22  speaking on behalf of Con Ed, as I believe  he is

         23  their in-house technical expert. So, I'll just give

         24  you that title for this morning. You can fill in the

         25  blanks.
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          2                 So, with that, this is a different

          3  room, we normally testify in that other room, but if

          4  you turn on that mike and have a seat. Or you're

          5  going to do the presentation from here? Okay.

          6                 We've been joined by Council Member

          7  Peter Vallone. Whenever you're ready.

          8                 MR. MIKSAD: Well, we put together a

          9  short presentation to go over what's in the rate

         10  case, as you alluded to. I want to touch on the

         11  major components, which include the growth in the

         12  City that you mentioned, maintaining the reliability

         13  in light of Long Island City, I think everyone

         14  understands that. And the Energy Efficiency Program

         15  that we've included in the rate plan. So, I'll just

         16  run into it and take it from there.

         17                 This first slide really just shows a

         18  simplified one-line diagram. The only purpose of

         19  this is to separate the systems. We show a

         20  generating plan in the upper left-hand corner. We're

         21  basically out of the generating business. We have

         22  about 600 megawatts of generation left, that is

         23  dedicated to providing steam to our steam system in

         24  Manhattan. Other than that, we have sold off all of

         25  the generation to other entities, and we are
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          2  primarily in the delivery business, in the form of

          3  the transmission system and the distribution system.

          4  And that's really the purpose of this slide, and it

          5  shows the three components - generation,

          6  transmission and distribution.

          7                 And there are really just two forms

          8  of distribution that we use at Con Edison. One is

          9  the smaller, and that's what we show down on the far

         10  right-hand side of this slide. That's an

         11  overhead-type distribution, on poles, which you see

         12  a lot up in Westchester, some up in Staten Island,

         13  and that's used in the rest of the country

         14  primarily. What's unique about the Con Edison system

         15  is what's in the center is the grid-like structure

         16  and that's a simplified representation of a network.

         17  We have 59 of those networks that supply New York

         18  City and it's a very reliable supply normally to our

         19  customers.

         20                 I'm going to say one more thing about

         21  generation. You did mention supply for the City,

         22  forecasted to continue to go up and this slide

         23  addresses that at least in the five-year horizon,

         24  and what it shows on the top line is the forecasted

         25  peak load for the City. In 2007 this summer it's
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          2  11,780 megawatts, a megawatt is a million watts. And

          3  you could see it go up in each and every year for

          4  the next five years, and that trend would continue

          5  out as far as you took it, if we didn't do something

          6  to clip that peak.

          7                 So, you could see out in 2011, the

          8  peak forecast for New York City is 12,480 megawatts.

          9  There is a reliability requirement in the second

         10  line that shows 80 percent of the peak load needs to

         11  be generated in-City, and that's that line there,

         12  and it shows for 2007 that means 9,400 megawatts of

         13  generation in-City, and in 2011, on the far end,

         14  it's 9,900 megawatts of generation. That's the

         15  requirement. And if you see in the third group of

         16  lines, that is the existing capability, the

         17  retirements, which there is only one, you can see in

         18  2010, show a minus 888 megawatts. And that's the

         19  retirement of NYPA's Poletti Plan in Astoria. And

         20  then you see the total, the net total down below.

         21  So, that shows that we have a surplus of 940

         22  megawatts in 2007, in the City, and you can see that

         23  surplus diminish over the five-year horizon down to

         24  a minus eight in 2011.

         25                 What that does not take into account
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          2  is the 500 megawatts of proposed energy efficiency

          3  measures that we have in our rate plan, which will

          4  not be achieved in this horizon. That 500 megawatts

          5  will be achieved, some part of it will be, but the

          6  total is planned between now and 2016, and then

          7  obviously the City's measures and other measures to

          8  curtail a load and be more energy efficient, would

          9  also have an impact on this slide.

         10                 So, the forecast right now is that

         11  we've got enough generation capacity in-City for the

         12  next five years. And, again, anything we do with

         13  regard to energy efficiency will only help that, and

         14  will also help the economics in that more expensive

         15  inefficient units will be able to come off line or

         16  not run during peak summer demand.

         17                 You mentioned the growth in the City,

         18  this is just highlighting some of the major ones

         19  that are going on right now. Basically if you look

         20  at the horizon, the skyline of New York City, you

         21  see cranes just about everywhere, and we've got

         22  Queens Silvercup West going up along the East River,

         23  Queens Flushing Commons, we've got Albi Square in

         24  Brooklyn, Manhattan, the Millennium Tower down at

         25  Battery Park City just went up, which is quite an
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          2  efficient building. It's got a green roof, solar

          3  panels, and outside air ventilation. You have the

          4  new New York Times building headquarters going up in

          5  Manhattan also, and Manhattan Harlem Auto Mall has

          6  gone -- that's the first auto dealership in Harlem

          7  in about 40 years.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Miksad, do

          9  you know if the New York Times building is going to

         10  be a green building?

         11                 MR. MIKSAD: I do not know.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do they consult

         13  with you on large buildings, or do they consult with

         14  Con Edison?

         15                 MR. MIKSAD: All buildings come to us

         16  for their service. They don't necessarily consult

         17  with us about their energy efficiency.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Energy

         19  efficiency.

         20                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes. Usually their

         21  builder, their consultant, their contractor, will

         22  work together to come up with whatever they intend

         23  to do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, it hasn't

         25  been a policy that they will come to the utilities
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          2  for?

          3                 MR. MIKSAD: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I was just

          5  curious to see if the New York Times was being

          6  energy efficient in their new facility.

          7                 MR. MIKSAD: Mm-hmm. Now, that's not

          8  unusual. I mean, we have highrises going up,

          9  residential commercial highrises in the City, you

         10  know, for as long as it's been a City. What is

         11  unique and different about this time is the

         12  infrastructure projects that are going on, or

         13  planned, in the City. And some of them are included

         14  here.

         15                 You've got Second Avenue Subway line,

         16  and the number 7 line extension. Very large

         17  projects, you know, first of their kind in a very

         18  long time.

         19                 We've got two new ball stadiums

         20  opening day 2009, the Yankee Stadium and the new

         21  CitiField, about seven or eight megawatts a piece.

         22  You've got the Atlantic Yards in Downtown Brooklyn,

         23  that is going to bring the Nets to Brooklyn. You've

         24  got the Howland Hook Terminal, the port in Staten

         25  Island. The Trade Center development, redevelopment,
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          2  which is about 50 megawatts, or 50 million watts of

          3  energy forecasted, and then the whole West Side

          4  development over in Hudson Yards is a massive

          5  project with a forecasted demand of 65 megawatts, or

          6  65 million watts of energy.

          7                 It wasn't too long ago for us who

          8  live and work in the City, where we remember a Times

          9  Square that was quite different from this picture,

         10  where it was a dark and foreboding place. And

         11  visitors avoided it if they could, and that is not

         12  the case anymore. And now many of the 44 million

         13  visitors to New York City make it a point to come to

         14  Times Square and it's our energy supplies, lights

         15  those billboards and signs.

         16                 That's just a snapshot of the growth,

         17  in terms of new development. I just wanted to touch

         18  on two points with regard to customer usage. And at

         19  one time, not too long ago, room air conditioners or

         20  central air conditioners for that matter, were a

         21  luxury, and right now it really seems like it's

         22  become a necessity, and 90 percent of our households

         23  in our service territory have at least one air

         24  conditioner, either room or central air, and we

         25  forecast between now and 2011, we're going to add
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          2  another 900,000 units, room air conditioners, to the

          3  service territory, and central air even is going to

          4  grow by about 40,000 between now and 2011.

          5                 You can get an air conditioner now

          6  for 70 bucks, and I think folks are thinking why buy

          7  a fan when I can get a cheaper air conditioner?

          8                 Now, that cheap air conditioner is

          9  not necessarily the most efficient air conditioner

         10  you can get. In fact, it's not. But it is a very

         11  low-cost commodity right now.

         12                 The other change that has been

         13  growing is use of home computers. And we just picked

         14  home computers, but it really represents the digital

         15  age in which we live. Blackberries, pagers, cell

         16  phones, large screen TVs, as well as PCs. And we

         17  have 77 percent of our households in our service

         18  territory currently have at least one computer, and

         19  that number is expected to grow by 400,000 units

         20  between now and 2011.

         21                 And this is really the bottom line in

         22  a way in terms of the demand, in terms of the

         23  increased energy usage. What this shows is in the

         24  light and dark bars, the light bar is the 2002 load

         25  forecast that we put together, are going out between
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          2  2007 and 2014, and the darker bar shows the current

          3  forecast for that same period. And you can see that

          4  it's about a 400 million watt difference in 2007,

          5  and that goes up to about 800 million watts, or 800

          6  megawatts in 2014. And you might scratch your head

          7  initially, but when you think back to 2002, in the

          8  wake of the Trade Center, you know, folks were

          9  afraid to build, to buy, to come here. There was a

         10  lot of concern of another attack and that, and that

         11  has completely changed and people want to live here,

         12  people want to move here. Residential housing

         13  permits are at 30-year highs right now, and that is

         14  all contributing to this change. It's been an

         15  amazing change in a relatively short period of time.

         16                 You did mention a generation in your

         17  opening remarks, and I just wanted to highlight

         18  three things. The two pictures are substations, one

         19  of which we've built, the Mott Haven Substation. We

         20  christened that in May of this year. That's in the

         21  South Bronx, and it provides about 300 megawatts or

         22  million watts of power for the South Bronx. It also

         23  is a transmission station that provides 900 million

         24  watts of energy for the City.

         25                 The one on the left, upper left is
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          2  the West Side Substation, which is part of this rate

          3  plan, which will be built. Both of those stations,

          4  in addition to providing the energy to the City,

          5  allow for interconnection of generation from others.

          6                 So, they're basically a hub or a

          7  collection point for other generators to connect to,

          8  and these stations will facilitate that. And the

          9  only other item I want to mention on this slide is

         10  that we have a plan that we've been undertaking and

         11  that will continue in this great plan to replace

         12  breakers in our area stations, which will also

         13  facilitate distributor generation for our customers

         14  to connect to our stations.

         15                 So, I think those three things are

         16  really examples of how we're facilitating additional

         17  generation supplies into the City.

         18                 This map shows the route of a

         19  transmission feeder, a 345,000 volt underground

         20  transmission feeder, which we are constructing

         21  between Yonkers and Upper Manhattan, and what it

         22  will do is allow for 350 megawatts or million watts

         23  of energy into the City. That's a reliability

         24  improvement, in that it's another connection into

         25  the City. It also allows for cheap, more cheap power
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          2  to come into the City from Upstate New York and

          3  Canada, and so that is -- it also helps the Poletti

          4  retirement by bringing additional facilities into

          5  the City.

          6                 There are five stations, five

          7  substations that are going to be constructed in this

          8  rate plan window, which is a three-year window,

          9  between 2008 and 2010. Rockview is in Yonkers, that

         10  will be constructed in 2008, as well as Parkview

         11  which is currently being constructed in 130th Street

         12  and Park Avenue, to address the growth that's going

         13  on in Harlem.

         14                 In 2009, the Astor substation on the

         15  West Side of Manhattan will be energized, and then

         16  in 2010, York on the east side of Manhattan and

         17  Academy, Upper Manhattan, will be constructed.

         18                 Just beyond the window of this rate

         19  plan, the construction will occur within the rate

         20  plan, will be a new substation which will split the

         21  Long Island City network in two. That will be built

         22  over by the Sunnyside Yards. We're going to call it

         23  the Newtown Substation, and that will be energized

         24  in 2011.

         25                 And then between 2011, and 2016,
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          2  another ten stations will be constructed, and they

          3  include Brooklyn, Queens, Manhattan. Brooklyn,

          4  Queens and Manhattan, I think those are the three

          5  boroughs.

          6                 We put this slide together. The left

          7  map is really a hypothetical. If we didn't construct

          8  those stations or some of the projects I just talked

          9  about, the map would look like this, and I just want

         10  to explain the map for one second. Basically red is

         11  the thing to focus on, and that would mean that the

         12  facilities were overloaded. It means they were over

         13  their capacity. And if we didn't do the projects,

         14  some of which I've described in just a couple

         15  slides, you'd have large sections of the City that

         16  would be shown overloaded.

         17                 But as a result of the rate plan and

         18  things that we're going to be doing over the next

         19  three years, and what we've been doing, what we do

         20  each and every year, we see that we keep everything

         21  within their capability. There is still a number of

         22  areas that have a, I would consider a small margin

         23  of five percent, but it's a lot better picture. And

         24  as I said, there are an additional ten stations,

         25  substations that fill in that picture going between
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          2  2011 and 2016.

          3                 We really talked about supply and

          4  delivery. I just want to talk a little bit about

          5  demand reduction on the energy efficiency side.

          6                 We've got a pretty long history of

          7  energy efficiency measures at Con Edison, really

          8  starting back in the seventies, when our Chairman

          9  came up with the Save A Watt Campaign, if you

         10  remember, some of the light switches used to have

         11  that little sticker on it? But the ones that are

         12  actually more tangible was in the eighties and

         13  nineties, reduced the demand, system demand by 740

         14  megawatts, with our enlightened energy program.

         15                 In 2003, which was the first targeted

         16  demand reduction program, where we looked to

         17  actually get efficiency, rather than construct a new

         18  facility, then we got 47 megawatt reduction as a

         19  result of that.

         20                 In our current rate plan from 2005 to

         21  2008, we have a total of 78 megawatts under contract

         22  for contract reduction, and the net of all of that,

         23  you did mention green and environmentally friendly

         24  solutions, the net of between 88 and 2006 has been a

         25  1.6 million metric ton reduction of CO2.  We are
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          2  only taking credit for the one year when we get it.

          3  It's not a compounded number. If we looked at

          4  compounded numbers, it would be much higher.

          5                 And just to close out the story on

          6  energy efficiency, in this current rate plan, we're

          7  proposing 500 megawatts of permanent demand

          8  reduction between now and 2016, as I mentioned

          9  before. That will include system-wide reductions, as

         10  well as targeted reductions for specific areas that

         11  are experiencing high load growth. And there will be

         12  138 megawatts, our estimate is 138 megawatts of

         13  reduction to be achieved during the rate plan,

         14  contingent on, we have submitted a petition to the

         15  Public Service Commission, to get going now to

         16  actually start some of the marketing and staffing

         17  now so that we can start as soon as that new rate

         18  plan begins in April of '08. And if this is

         19  accomplished, we'll get another 1.9 million metric

         20  ton reduction of CO2, as a result of this reduction.

         21                 You did mention distributor

         22  generation in your opening remarks, and I just

         23  wanted to point out that there are currently 244

         24  megawatts of distributed generation connected to our

         25  distribution system. There are currently 100
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          2  megawatts of projects in various stages of

          3  completion or planning right now. And the larger

          4  ones are shown there down below, 45 megawatt to

          5  Co-Op City in the Bronx, 13 megawatts at NYU, seven

          6  and a half megawatts at New York Presbyterian

          7  Hospital, and you may have read that Verdant Power

          8  has just energized 200 kilowatt title generator in

          9  the East River that is supplying the Gristides on

         10  Roosevelt Island. And the pictures really just show

         11  some of the various types of generation that are

         12  actually connected, which include solar, solar

         13  power.

         14                 If you actually include some of the

         15  larger units that are connected to our transmission

         16  system, like the plant out at JFK and the Brooklyn

         17  Navy Yard and a couple of other larger ones, there's

         18  actually 600 megawatts of distributor generation

         19  connected to our system.

         20                 In the rate plan there are some large

         21  numbers of components that we'll be changing out

         22  which include 4,300 miles of primary cable,

         23  underground cable; 5,900 miles of secondary cable,

         24  which is the 120 volt cable that run through the

         25  streets, under the streets of the City; 5,700
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          2  network transformers will be changed out over that

          3  three-year period. We'll upgrade ten transmission

          4  feeders to increase capacity into the City, and

          5  replace breakers really at every voltage level of

          6  our system.

          7                 These levels are basically ten to 20

          8  percent higher than what we're currently doing right

          9  now.

         10                 There is a number of storm response

         11  initiatives in this rate plan, which include

         12  storm-resistant construction, covered inflated wire

         13  that will be installed, an enhanced tree-trimming

         14  program, I guess you could also say a more

         15  aggressive tree-trimming program, where we're

         16  increasing the clearances between our lines and the

         17  trees.

         18                 In the wake of Katrina and the

         19  hurricanes that hit New Orleans and Florida, we went

         20  down there. We actually helped them out. We were

         21  actually in New Orleans helping restore them in

         22  2005, but we learned a lot from what we saw down

         23  there. We brought that back and put a plan together

         24  and that will begin in this rate plan to actually

         25  effectuate that plan, which will allow us to harden
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          2  our underground system for flood.

          3                 This will get us to A category 1

          4  hurricane. At that point we will evaluate whether we

          5  want to go further to protect for a Category 2 or

          6  perhaps 3, both of which are possibilities for New

          7  York City area. We also have an improved storm

          8  setter that is in this plan.

          9                 You had mentioned technology, and I

         10  just want to address that for a moment. We have a

         11  program called 3 G, the third generation of

         12  distribution system. The first generation was

         13  overhead wires on poles. Second generation was a

         14  network system, and now we're looking out further to

         15  see what we can -- what the next generation of

         16  system will be.

         17                 We are benchmarked with a number of

         18  utilities around the world, and what we're coming up

         19  with, and right now it's still research and

         20  development, but a system that will increase asset

         21  utilization, which will lower costs, improve

         22  operating flexibility, and result in fewer and

         23  smaller new substations.

         24                 It will also include things like an

         25  ability to locate faults and reconfigure the system
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          2  automatically. Some call that a self-healing system.

          3                 I mentioned before to this Committee

          4  the Smart meters that we're piloting, the 500,000

          5  meters between now and 2008. And if that works, what

          6  we hope that will be, is that will for the first

          7  time no longer be dependent on customers calling us

          8  to tell us they're out, we will know immediately

          9  when they're out of lights and back in lights. So,

         10  that will bring us to the next, really the next

         11  system and along really our desired place to be.

         12  That's where we want to be.

         13                 You may have read that we partnered

         14  with Homeland Security, and American Super Conductor

         15  to install a Super Conducting Cable on the Upper

         16  East Side of Manhattan. The benefits of that is it

         17  delivers four times more power in the same diameter.

         18  The down side is it does have to be operated at very

         19  low temperatures, but it's out of the R&D stage now

         20  and it's in commercial development. So, we're going

         21  to give that a try. We're going to connect two

         22  substations and it will allow to really, one of the

         23  first steps in that vision that I just talked about

         24  in that first, in that previous slide, where we can

         25  actually transfer, load our customers between
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          2  substations.

          3                 The other thing about that is it's

          4  very low losses, but as a result of that we need

          5  fault current limiting built into that system, if it

          6  does fail.

          7                 We have a number of -- we're going to

          8  continue a number of Public Safety Initiatives in

          9  this rate plan. That includes the, in the upper left

         10  there are these composite covers, the non-metallic

         11  covers that don't conduct electricity, that we're

         12  going to use to mitigate stray voltage. We're

         13  starting to install those. We've developed those,

         14  and we're starting to install those this year. We've

         15  got the vented covers on the lower left. The upper

         16  right is an isolation transformer, which has been

         17  used for years in hospital operating rooms, but

         18  we're going to use them for street lights to prevent

         19  stray voltage in street lights, which really is the

         20  number one source of stray voltage right now.

         21                 And then the lower right is the

         22  multiple stray voltage detector, which I've talked

         23  to some of you about in the past. We've got a fleet

         24  of 15 of those vehicles right now that patrol the

         25  City, looking for stray voltage before it can affect
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          2  a pedestrian or an animal, and it's proven very

          3  successful for us and the real benefit is that it's

          4  fast, it is efficient, and it finds stray voltage,

          5  not just on Con Edison facilities, but on, as I

          6  mentioned before, street lights, or the environment.

          7  If it's on a -- if a scaffold is energized, from a

          8  contractor that has installed lighting on it, we

          9  will find it. If a storefront is energized as the

         10  result of a defective neon sign, we'll find it with

         11  this device. It checks the entire street and that's

         12  a real benefit of that. And no one else in the

         13  country or the world has a fleet of these things,

         14  except for Con Edison.

         15                 I know this Committee has expressed

         16  concern about reliability, in light of Long Island

         17  City outage last summer. We understand that fully,

         18  and no one takes that more seriously than we do. And

         19  I just want to say that what this great plan does is

         20  to continue the level of service that we

         21  traditionally provide, and this slide shows New York

         22  State interruption rate, so that it's normalized and

         23  it shows about 1,000 customers interrupted for every

         24  1,000 (sic) customers served. Or translated, one

         25  interruption per customer per year.
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          2                 Con Edison rate is a composite rate,

          3  which shows both the overhead and underground

          4  systems together, and it shows about 150, 175

          5  customers interrupted for every 1,000 customers

          6  served.  You can see that's I guess a five- or

          7  six-time improvement over what the rest of the State

          8  currently experiences.

          9                 This is another cut at it. You can

         10  see New York is better, somewhat better than the

         11  national average. Both are about one customer, every

         12  customer interrupted at least once a year. The Con

         13  Edison overhead system, which is primarily in

         14  Westchester, although we do have some in Brooklyn,

         15  Queens and Staten Island, is about two times better

         16  than that, at about 540 customers interrupted for

         17  every 1,000 served. I already mentioned the overall

         18  at about 160 for Con Edison. The network system is

         19  21, and you can just see it's orders of magnitude

         20  better. And it is normally just the best

         21  distribution system around, notwithstanding Long

         22  Island City.

         23                 The transmission and distribution

         24  investment picture, you can see what we're doing

         25  currently. We are at about a billion-four per year,
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          2  per year for T&D investment. That's going to ramp up

          3  to 1.8 billion for 2008, as a result of the number

          4  of stations that are going on line, and then taper

          5  down a bit down to the 1.6, 1.7 billion dollar range

          6  in the last two years of the rate plan.

          7                 And then the final slide is really

          8  just the breakdown, I don't know how far you want to

          9  get into the actual numbers, but this is the 11.6

         10  percent average increase, which as you mentioned

         11  earlier, translates to 17 percent on the bill for an

         12  average residential customer and ten to 11 percent

         13  increase for an average commercial customer.

         14                 515 million of the 1.2 billion that

         15  we're asking for is actually a carry-over from the

         16  current rate plan. We've got new operating programs

         17  of 280 million. That includes the tree trimming and

         18  what we're doing with regard to stray voltage. The

         19  new infrastructure investments is the capital

         20  investment I talked about, the substations and the

         21  transformers and the like. We're asking for 11.5

         22  percent return on equity. Depreciation changes,

         23  we're accelerating some depreciation for $100

         24  million worth. Sales growth is higher than expected,

         25  so that offsets this somewhat, for a total of 1.2
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          2  billion increase in the first year of the rate plan,

          3  showing that average of 11.6 percent.

          4                 And then just, and you also mentioned

          5  earlier, Chairman, there was a subsequent request of

          6  3.2 percent, and 3.7 percent average in the

          7  subsequent two years of the plan.

          8                 And bottom line is how I started, we

          9  want to sustain that growth that's happening in New

         10  York City. We do not want to be a constraint for it.

         11  We want to continue the high level of reliability.

         12  It's an expectation, it's a demand of our customers,

         13  and to promote energy efficiency in line with the

         14  Mayor's plan and Governor's plan.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right, thank

         16  you.

         17                 We are having problems with getting a

         18  quorum. Anyone that is here today on the second item

         19  regarding the vote for the billboard, to clean up

         20  the Administrative Code regarding billboards, we're

         21  going to try to get a vote as soon as we have a

         22  quorum, but we don't have a quorum as of yet.

         23                 If anyone else is interested in

         24  testifying, you need to fill out a card and give it

         25  to the Sergeant-Of-Arms. He has them on the desk
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          2  over there.

          3                 Okay, we have a few questions, but

          4  since I've been keeping this tradition since we've

          5  been meeting, to allow Council Member Vallone, since

          6  he was directly affected, to ask the first

          7  questions, I think I'll keep that tradition, if it's

          8  all right with you, Council Member?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's fine.

         10  I was going to take some time to organize the

         11  thousands of questions that I --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, all right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:-- Just popped

         14  into my head, but I'm fine.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'll throw out a

         16  couple in the beginning then.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Sure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right now what is

         19  the current capacity for network-wide to allow for

         20  clean distributed energy to be connected to the

         21  grid? What is your current capacity for distributed

         22  energy?

         23                 MR. MIKSAD: I don't know if there is

         24  a limit. It really is a composite of our system, as

         25  well as what our customers desire to build. I mean,
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          2  most of the units that they're building are

          3  relatively small, one to two megawatt units,

          4  combined cycle-type generators, not the most

          5  efficient things in the world right now. And I can't

          6  say there's an upper limit to our system right now

          7  with regard to distributed generation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is there a

          9  problem with access point now? Is there anybody --

         10  you talked about a few people that are bringing

         11  systems on line, did Co-Op City, NYU, Presbyterian

         12  Hospital, the Verdant Power, will all those be able

         13  to connect in as soon as they're on line?

         14                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, they will.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Are there any

         16  systems that are available now that cannot connect?

         17                 I believe that when we had the

         18  hearings, there was some co-ops within the Long

         19  Island City and Astoria area that had capacity to

         20  do, supply power back to the grid; has there been

         21  any opportunity to check on whether or not that can

         22  be allowed for this summer?

         23                 MR. MIKSAD: I don't think that was

         24  the limitation of our system. I think what was going

         25  on at the time was we had the damage on the
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          2  secondary grid, and we were concerned about that

          3  system backfeeding in and energizing it when our

          4  crews were working on it. So, I don't think that was

          5  an issue, a capacity limitation or some sort of

          6  barrier to them connecting, other than the safety

          7  issue we were addressing at the time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Has anyone

          9  investigated to see whether or not those co-ops can

         10  be incorporated into this summer's policy, to see if

         11  those that have the ability to provide some energy,

         12  that Con Ed can do so?

         13                 MR. MIKSAD: I could check

         14  specifically. I'll just mention that both Con Edison

         15  and the New York Independent System Operator, the

         16  ISO, have programs where any customer can sign up to

         17  do one of two things actually; either reduce their

         18  demand, or to turn on generation effectively

         19  reducing their demand.

         20                 And the New York ISO and Con Edison

         21  Programs actually pay for customers to do that. And

         22  that's available to any customer.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you're saying

         24  those people within that network now would like to

         25  be able to directly give back or sell electricity to
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          2  Con Edison should sign up through that program?

          3                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes. Now, that program I

          4  mentioned is a peak demand reduction program, which

          5  is initiated by either the Independent System

          6  Operator or Con Edison. That would be something that

          7  would be actuated on a peak summer day to where the

          8  folks who signed up for that program would be

          9  contacted and asked to reduce load or turn on the

         10  generation.

         11                 There are other -- the ones I

         12  mentioned in the slide, I mean those are generators

         13  that are on, not just during the peak summer day,

         14  but 24/7, they'll be running those continuously, and

         15  we'll be buying back that power.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You have the

         17  ability to do that now?

         18                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you had an

         20  opportunity to go through the Long Island City

         21  network and see who else has the capability to

         22  self-generate now? Again, you know, I keep coming

         23  back to the fact that there were some properties in

         24  that area that had the ability to self-generate, and

         25  to re-distribute, and I was wondering what Con Ed
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          2  had done to make an assessment to see how those

          3  could be incorporated as ala Rikers Island and

          4  CitiBank, and the other places that you already

          5  identified.

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And I didn't hear

          8  anything in your testimony about whether or not that

          9  had been done to increase the capacity or the

         10  knowledge base even of Con Ed so that they can have

         11  an opportunity to quickly let those people know that

         12  they can, to do full power self-generation or to

         13  reduce the overall load in that network.

         14                 MR. MIKSAD: We haven't surveyed them

         15  but I can do that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: If you could let

         17  us know that, I'm sure that that would be good.

         18                 You said that Con Edison right now is

         19  only self-generating 600 megawatts of power to

         20  service the steam substation, the steam-generating

         21  station?

         22                 MR. MIKSAD: The steam distribution

         23  system. Some customers take steam directly from us

         24  in Manhattan.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.
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          2                 And is that, those steam customers,

          3  are those industrial customers? Or are those just --

          4                 MR. MIKSAD: They're really commercial

          5  residential. A lot of the hospitals use steam for

          6  sterilization or heat or cooling, for that matter.

          7  We have about 1,800 steam customers in Manhattan.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you expect

          9  that number to go up, or with new technology is that

         10  no longer necessary?

         11                 MR. MIKSAD: We would like that number

         12  to go up. It's really an economic choice for the

         13  customer. Many of the things that they can do with

         14  steam they can also do with either natural gas or

         15  electricity. So, it's an economic decision for them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And it's cheaper

         17  to build with steam redundancy, or with gas or

         18  electricity?

         19                 MR. MIKSAD: Cheaper for the customer?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         21                 MR. MIKSAD: Many of the things that

         22  I'm talking about that can be transferred are

         23  cheaper on the electric side.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         25                 And the New York Independent Power
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          2  Grid, what is your projected usage for this summer?

          3  Your usage for this summer, and have you contacted

          4  the power grid about peak capacity and maximum

          5  capacity?

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: We're talking about for

          7  the City, for Con Edison service territory, or for

          8  the State?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I would just be

         10  myopic and focus on the City for now.

         11                 MR. MIKSAD: The City. That was in the

         12  slide that, the second slide. The forecast for this

         13  summer is 11,780 megawatts.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. So, you've

         15  talked to all of the power providers about ensuring

         16  that we can have that peak load distributed to the

         17  City at all times?

         18                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, we have. In fact,

         19  there's a whole process that goes on in the spring

         20  where not only do we and the ISO contact those

         21  generators, but there is testing requirements of the

         22  units to make sure that they're in top shape for the

         23  summer peak.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, all of your

         25  generators have been tested and been ready to deal
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          2  with peak load capacity?

          3                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, they have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Throughout the

          5  Citywide network.

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: Not just our, the

          7  majority is not our generation, and all of that

          8  generation has been tested.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         10                 So, all of your substations and

         11  feeder stations and transmission stations are all

         12  prepared to operate at full capacity at this

         13  particular time?

         14                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, they are.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. You talked

         16  about you plan to replace all your breakers in the

         17  substations to allow for distributed generation. You

         18  have some substations now that cannot handle

         19  distributed generation?

         20                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, that's true.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And is that

         22  throughout primarily 60 percent of your system, 80

         23  percent of your system?

         24                 MR. MIKSAD: It would be a guess. I'm

         25  not sure, but I think you're probably in the ball
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          2  park. Maybe 60 percent. The program that I alluded

          3  to changing our breakers, is the primary limitation,

          4  and that's the one that we're working on. We're

          5  changing out about 60 to 70 breakers a year in order

          6  to facilitate that interconnection. And that will

          7  continue in this rate plan.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And are any

          9  of the large infrastructure projects being built

         10  with self-generation capacity? Atlantic Yards,

         11  CitiField, Yankee Stadium, Hudson Yards, the World

         12  Trade Center? Howland Hook expects to generate a lot

         13  of -- use a lot of electrical capacity?

         14                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And are you

         16  working with any of these locations to either

         17  provide on-site generation or substations to any of

         18  them?

         19                 MR. MIKSAD: I don't know of any plans

         20  for those to connect distributed generation. That

         21  doesn't mean there are not, but I don't know of any

         22  plans right now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is it possible

         24  that Con Edison would provide -- what's the

         25  technical term? All these technical terms are

                                                            41

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  starting to -- is it possible that Con Edison would

          3  provide some type of generation platform for them to

          4  utilize so that they could ensure even if they

          5  didn't do it themselves, to either create an area

          6  substation or some type of directed generation

          7  opportunity for them so that they wouldn't pull your

          8  load exactly? Because you're also talking about,

          9  well, there's a point out there, you're talking

         10  Flushing, I'm just wondering if there is anything

         11  that Con Edison is doing in a proactive way?

         12                 MR. MIKSAD: Oh. Last year I think one

         13  of the most proactive things we did was we created

         14  distributed generation ombudsman who was dedicated

         15  to this task, and he deals with the builders, the

         16  builders of DG, interfaces with them, streamlines

         17  the process, kind of works them through any issues,

         18  tells them where the limitations are but also where

         19  there is potential for a distributed generation to

         20  be interconnected. We've got a website that we've

         21  created in concert with the distributed generators

         22  to allow them access to our specifications, which

         23  are really built around reliability and safety. I

         24  mean, those are really the main things. Our policy

         25  on this is that we support DG. We want a level
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          2  playing field for all of them, and we're working to

          3  make sure our system can interconnect with DG.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Would you

          5  consider supplying DG stations for some of these

          6  larger venues?

          7                 MR. MIKSAD: To actually build DG?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes.

          9                 MR. MIKSAD: No. Basically, our

         10  business model has become, as a result of a sell-off

         11  of generation, has been delivery. So, we leave

         12  generation up to others, anyone else who is

         13  interested in doing that, and our primary issue is

         14  to facilitate interconnection.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. I'll get

         16  back to that a little bit later. I think the

         17  philosophy change may have to happen down the line.

         18                 Let me turn over a few questions to

         19  Council Member Vallone, and then I'll come back.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair, for your courtesy, as usual. Thank you

         22  for this hearing and for continuing to hold Con Ed's

         23  feet to the fire.

         24                 Welcome, Mr. Miksad. I'm never happy

         25  to see you here because you are a very earnest, very
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          2  nice individual, seem to be very competent, and it's

          3  tough to get mad at you, but my problem is not with

          4  you, it's with Kevin Burke. Surprise, surprise. But

          5  he's not here. So, unfortunately, you're going to

          6  have to sit there and answer the questions that he

          7  should be.

          8                 My first problem that I have is that

          9  this was a very nice presentation. Nice words.

         10  However, every person responsible for the gross

         11  negligence and the outright lies which plunged my

         12  community into nine days of hell, is still there.

         13  Every person who said 400 customers were affected,

         14  when close to 200,000 people were hurt still there.

         15  Every person who refused to tell myself or any

         16  member of any community that ten or 22 feeder cables

         17  were out. Catastrophic damage happened. No hope of

         18  this being fixed any time in the future. No one --

         19  everyone refused to tell us that this had occurred,

         20  the second day of the blackout, is still there.

         21                 Precautions could have been taken.

         22  Generators could have been rented. People could have

         23  fled. Gone somewhere else to survive the week.

         24  Checked on the elderly. None of that happened

         25  because Con Ed lied over and over, and everyone is
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          2  still there.

          3                 The point is, why should we believe

          4  one thing you're saying today about all of these

          5  improvements you are going to make? I will tell you,

          6  Kevin Burke should be sitting there, but you're the

          7  one who has to answer the questions.

          8                 MR. MIKSAD: Well, the 1.4 billion

          9  that we've been spending on the system this year,

         10  actually happens to be the same number that was

         11  spent since last summer, 1.4 billion on the system,

         12  the transmission and distribution system. Those

         13  numbers are open to review. We submit them to the

         14  Public Service Commission. They're a matter of

         15  public record. If we could show you the cable in the

         16  ground, we're going to show you the transformers

         17  that we replaced, the work has been done and the

         18  work continues to be done. I mentioned it in my

         19  remarks, we take what happened in Long Island City

         20  very seriously. I understand your points about the

         21  inconvenience and hardship that we have occurred

         22  onto our customers (sic), and those customers, you

         23  know, for that period of time, whether they were out

         24  for four days or five days or seven or eight days, I

         25  know what that is. That's a very hard thing for you,
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          2  I understand, to swallow, and for them.

          3                 What we've done though is I believe

          4  everything that is humanly possible to prevent a

          5  recurrence and to learn everything possible from

          6  that event, and improve the system even further.

          7                 In terms of not just infrastructure

          8  but systems to provide information to operators, our

          9  policies and practices where we interface with OEM.

         10  I met with OEM two weeks ago to review how this is

         11  going to work this summer. We've got a team of folks

         12  who are trained and will be out on the ground if an

         13  event does occur. Not that I expect an event will

         14  occur, but if it does we will be out there.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I don't want

         16  to interrupt you, but you testified about all of

         17  that, and everything you learned from the blackout,

         18  and how you now have response teams and you're

         19  working with OEM. We had an entire hearing with OEM

         20  to go into that. But the question is, and I'm not

         21  sure you can answer it, the questions is, you say

         22  you're going to do these things, you said you were

         23  going to do them before the blackout, too, and we

         24  had the blackout. So, the people of Astoria and

         25  Northwest Queens have no reason to believe that
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          2  anything different is going to occur because

          3  everyone responsible is still in charge.

          4                 Now, you had a press conference

          5  yesterday with the Mayor, which I thought was very

          6  interesting, Chair Comrie, because we're having a

          7  hearing today on Con Ed's preparedness for a

          8  blackout and there was a press conference yesterday

          9  on Con Ed's preparedness for a blackout, most likely

         10  to prevent people from coming today, where actual

         11  tough questions will be asked.

         12                 But at the press conference, and one

         13  of the editorial boards, and I've heard you talk

         14  about today the need, the fact that we're straining

         15  the limits of the power we produce, let's get this

         16  straight: as you even said, we have all the

         17  necessary power we need for at least the next five

         18  years. We had all the power we needed last summer.

         19  The blackout we had, or any blackout we have this

         20  summer, if it happens, will not happen because of a

         21  lack of power, correct? It will happen because your

         22  company was not able to transmit that power

         23  effectively; isn't that correct?

         24                 MR. MIKSAD: Well, the 2004 Northeast

         25  blackout occurred as a result of generation and
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          2  transmission problems out in Ohio and Canada. So, I

          3  can't say that an outage will not occur as a result

          4  of a generation. All I can say is that it won't

          5  occur as a result of a deficiency --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Correct.

          7                 MR. MIKSAD: -- In generation. But I

          8  mean, units can trip off line and things can happen

          9  on the generation side that result in power problems

         10  also.

         11                 We will have some scattered outages

         12  this summer. We do every summer. And as you saw from

         13  the two charts I showed, the fact is that every

         14  utility has outages every year, far more than we do.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: But they

         16  won't occur because there's a lack of power unless,

         17  as you said, there is some catastrophic damage to a

         18  power plant, but the usual blackout will not occur

         19  because of a lack of power. It will occur because of

         20  a problem with the transmission of that power?

         21                 MR. MIKSAD: Probability-wise, that is

         22  the normal cause of outage - the delivery system

         23  fails and results in an outage.

         24                 Of the 2.4 million customers, network

         25  customers that we supply, on a typical summer, 5,000
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          2  of those customers will be interrupted. That's a

          3  typical. So, I'm not sure what percent it is, but

          4  it's a pretty low percent.

          5                 On the overhead system you saw, we

          6  showed 500 customers interrupted per year per every

          7  thousand customers served. So, about half of the

          8  overhead customers will be interrupted in a given

          9  year. And I would say perhaps 50 percent of that

         10  will occur during the summer, when the storms roll

         11  in, after the heatwave and that sort of thing.

         12                 So, I'm not going to say that there

         13  won't be outages, but what I can say with a fair

         14  degree of confidence is that it will not be the size

         15  or duration of what we experienced last year in Long

         16  Island City.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You mean the

         18  worst blackout in the history of New York City. I

         19  would hope it won't be the size or duration of the

         20  worst blackout that we've ever seen here in New York

         21  City.

         22                 I'm going to get to that number of

         23  customers soon, but let's talk about the

         24  improvements that you mentioned.

         25                 You spoke at length about the growth
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          2  of our City, you mentioned Times Square, you

          3  mentioned computers. Clearly none of this is new,

          4  Times Square or computers. The City has been growing

          5  for years and years and years. There were 22 feeder

          6  cables in the Long Island City System, how many are

          7  you adding to that system to prepare for the future?

          8                 MR. MIKSAD: We have added two

          9  already, so there are 24 going into this summer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Do you intend

         11  to add any more or is that the final number for the

         12  foreseeable future?

         13                 MR. MIKSAD: We have been negotiating

         14  with one of the generators actually out in Astoria

         15  for a third feeder addition. We don't own it, but we

         16  were hoping to obtain it from the generator to add a

         17  third feeder to bring it up to 25 feeders. But I

         18  mentioned earlier that we're going to be building a

         19  substation which design is actually starting,

         20  construction will start in probably a year for the

         21  substation to be energized in 2011, which will

         22  essentially bring up to 28 new feeders into that

         23  area, and also as importantly, splitting the

         24  network, the 400 megawatt network of Long Island

         25  City into two, so we'll have two smaller 200
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          2  megawatt networks, and that will be probably the

          3  most significant thing that we will do to really

          4  enhance the reliability out there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: How long were

          6  those 22 cables in existence?

          7                 MR. MIKSAD: Well, a feeder is made up

          8  of a number of sections of cables, each about maybe

          9  200 feet long, and then they are connected together.

         10  So, it's not a component, it's actually hundreds of

         11  components that when together form a feeder.

         12                 So, I'm not sure how to answer the

         13  question in that it was --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm not going

         15  to ask you how long any individual component of any

         16  feeder is. I know the press reports say that some of

         17  those feeders that failed were there for 50, 60

         18  years, or components of those feeders.

         19                 I'm talking about the number of

         20  actual feeder cables, those 22 cables, how long was

         21  that number, the number of cables that fed the Long

         22  Island City network?

         23                 MR. MIKSAD: I'm not sure, but I think

         24  it's fair to say for a number of years. I'm not sure

         25  how long though. I could find out.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's my

          3  point, I'm pretty sure it was for a number of years,

          4  so I would like to know how long.

          5                 MR. MIKSAD: Sure.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: But, again,

          7  none of this growth was unforeseen. It's been

          8  happening for years and years and years. Look

          9  around. Every two-family is being knocked down and

         10  six-families putting up, gigantic new condos and

         11  co-ops are going up, and they all were plugging into

         12  the same underground feeder system, with no

         13  improvements, year after year after year. Twenty-two

         14  cables, year after year after year.

         15                 Now, after nine days of hell, you're

         16  going to put in two new feeder cables. It's not the

         17  system that should be in place - when it fails, then

         18  we decide to add feeder cables. They need to be

         19  added proactively, throughout the entire City, to

         20  stop that from happening.

         21                 MR. MIKSAD: I understand your point,

         22  and I just wanted to say that this is a cyclic

         23  process that does happen every year, and I

         24  understand your point about 22 feeders have been

         25  there for quite awhile, but if I just explain that,
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          2  every year we have an experience in the summer and

          3  we will update and revise a ten-year load forecast,

          4  looking out in a ten-year window. And we do that not

          5  just for the system, which I showed up on the slide,

          6  but we do that by network. And we make sure that

          7  prior to the following summer, that we have enough

          8  substation capacity and feeder capacity for that

          9  forecasted demand.

         10                 That happens every year. It's

         11  happened every year for as long as I've been in this

         12  company, and it was not, Long Island City was not

         13  the result of a supply limitation. There were a

         14  number of failures that occurred that quickly

         15  brought us above our design criteria in that

         16  network. We're designed for the loss of two. As you

         17  know, we lost two very quickly, it went to five

         18  shortly after that, and found ourselves with the

         19  loss of ten feeders, ten of the 22 within 24 hours.

         20                 But my point is, the problem was not

         21  a supply problem.  All of the feeders going into the

         22  summer, last summer in Long Island City were within

         23  their capability. The North Queen Substation that

         24  supplies the Long Island City Network, last summer

         25  was within its capability, as it is this year, as it
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          2  will be next year, and by 2011, when we get that new

          3  station in, it will continue to be.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Yes, I'm glad

          5  you clarified that, because as I said, even some

          6  newspaper editorial boards are confused, and rightly

          7  so, not many people, other than you and maybe this

          8  Committee, spend as much time on this as we do. I

          9  just wanted to make clear that we had the power, and

         10  we don't need any more power plants in Astoria for

         11  the moment.

         12                 Now, you mentioned Smart meters,

         13  which we have been calling for. And I don't want to

         14  gloss over anything you said, but we had entire

         15  hearings on those topics.

         16                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes. Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I don't want

         18  any people to think I'm skipping things. The Smart

         19  meters, which we've called for, and which are a

         20  great idea, would, as you said, allow you to

         21  actually know how many customers are out; how long

         22  has Con Ed, the company itself, been in existence?

         23                 MR. MIKSAD: Something like 175 years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay. We've

         25  had electricity for that long? Okay, who knows.
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          2                 MR. MIKSAD: I think Pearl Street

          3  opened in Manhattan in 1870 something.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: My point is,

          5  though, you know, this was not the first blackout.

          6  There were numerous, numerous blackouts. And you

          7  would have thought it was the first blackout, based

          8  on your company's pathetic attempts to figure out

          9  how many people were affected. When you started out

         10  at 400 customers, it went up finally, after our

         11  Thursday press conference, to 25,000 customers, I

         12  still maintain, and I think any independent person

         13  who has taken a look at this maintains there is well

         14  over 200,000. Not the 175, which I think is the

         15  official number, but well over 200,000. I represent

         16  170, so does Eric Gioia, most of both of our

         17  districts were out. And again, what's the definition

         18  of out? I'm talking affected by this blackout, and

         19  your numbers are basically completely without power.

         20                 So, this affected a massive, massive

         21  amount of people and for the first two or three days

         22  it was 400 to 1,000, to maybe 200,000 customers

         23  which were affected. Why would it take this blackout

         24  for you to put a common-sense system in place to

         25  determine something so crucial? The City didn't come
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          2  for days because they had no idea, because they

          3  didn't have a system in place either, that we were

          4  affected the way we were, because you weren't

          5  telling them that. This is crucial to help people.

          6  You didn't have a system in place, other than call

          7  an overburdened number, which couldn't take calls,

          8  which had an answering machine, and which you

          9  couldn't make a call if you didn't have electricity

         10  in your house. Why would it take this long to come

         11  up with that system?

         12                 I know their technology for the Smart

         13  meters wasn't in existence, but there are other

         14  systems that you could use. There are these teams

         15  that go out in the neighborhood, there are many,

         16  many other systems that are in place.

         17                 MR. MIKSAD: Right. I understand the

         18  question. As the numbers I showed in the reliability

         19  slide indicate, Long Island City, in a number of

         20  ways, was an unprecedented event. We never had

         21  25,000 customers out, or 100,000 people or 175,000

         22  people, to use your number, affected by an outage

         23  about a problem in a network without us actually

         24  shutting down the network, as we did in 1999 with

         25  Washington Heights, where there was a substation

                                                            56

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  fire and we had to actually shut down.

          3                 So, it was unprecedented. It was

          4  unprecedented for the operators, it was

          5  unprecedented for the system.

          6                 So, you know, I know part of this

          7  was, and I think I mentioned this before, is the

          8  operators, without having that experience, did not

          9  believe that there were that many customers out, and

         10  2,000 customers out in the network, which was the

         11  number we were publishing prior to the 25,000, was a

         12  very large number for a network outage. And that

         13  was, that skewed a lot of the communication that was

         14  going on between operators in the field, and I think

         15  between folks like yourself and the company. When

         16  someone would say there is a large number of

         17  customers out, or there are blocks out, I think it

         18  was received as, yes, we know there is a large

         19  problem. Two-thousand people in a network is a large

         20  problem for Con Edison. It doesn't happen. And in 40

         21  years we haven't had, we looked back 40 years, but I

         22  think if we looked back even further, you wouldn't

         23  find that number of customers affected without us

         24  actually shutting down the network.

         25                 So, it did, unfortunately, reveal a
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          2  vulnerability in our system. We could not rely on

          3  the traditional method of customer calls. Generally

          4  when we're talking about a network, we're talking

          5  about half a block, or a block outage, and it's all

          6  contained within that area. When a field crew went

          7  out there, they would see the problem, they would

          8  identify the problem. They would find the root cause

          9  and they would fix it. That is the norm with a

         10  network problem. This was not, by any stretch, the

         11  norm.

         12                 So, did we fall down? Yes. Did we not

         13  get our arms around the problem? Yes. Did we not

         14  communicate well as a result of that? Yes. But as I

         15  said before, we did not lie. No one lied about this.

         16  Did we not communicate well? Did we not get our arms

         17  around it? Absolutely. Absolutely true.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I know you

         19  believe that. I don't doubt that. And as you know, I

         20  don't believe that for a minute. I don't believe

         21  it's possible for a company with your

         22  responsibilities to be as grossly negligent as you

         23  are trying to say you are. I believe that there was

         24  a specific effort to cover up the damage, not just

         25  in this blackout, but it appears in every blackout
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          2  before this. And now we know the reason, because of

          3  the reliability slide. Because you base rate

          4  increases on reliability. And you like to come in

          5  and give Powerpoint presentations about how you are

          6  the most reliable company ever to be in existence in

          7  the United States.

          8                 It is clear now that those numbers

          9  that you are basing your reliability on, have been a

         10  fraud since day one. The only numbers we have are

         11  the ones you've given us. And if myself and the

         12  other elected officials didn't expose those as a

         13  lie, and the blackout didn't go for the fourth or

         14  fifth day, no one would have ever known. No one

         15  would have ever believed us. You would have

         16  continued to call us Pollyannas and Chicken Littles,

         17  whatever, everyone would have thought, 1,000, 2,000

         18  customers, and in a year from now you come in with a

         19  slide to say look how reliable we are. Two-hundred

         20  thousand people were affected. Again, I don't

         21  believe for a minute that it's possible to be that

         22  negligent and everybody still be in place. Guess

         23  what? We were pathetic, but, you know, we're all

         24  still here. Impossible. Impossible to believe. It's

         25  a blatant attempt at a cover-up of the amount of
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          2  damage here.

          3                 I mean, I can go into the things I

          4  went into at the last hearing. In fact, I think all

          5  the phone calls I made, and every other elected

          6  official made, the tapes that have been discovered

          7  of your workers talking to each other about the

          8  extent of the damage, as I've said, a 12-year-old on

          9  a bike could have rode around and come up with a

         10  better estimate than your multi-billion dollar

         11  company did. Impossible to be that negligent. We

         12  disagree on that.

         13                 But now you've come up with Smart

         14  meters after nine days of hell. And that's a good

         15  thing, if they actually do get put into service.

         16  You're asking for a rate increase. As I said, I

         17  think your actual line was, you're going to continue

         18  your level of service you traditionally provide,

         19  which probably just sent Astoria into convulsions.

         20  They're shaking in their boots out there, they're

         21  going to get the traditional level of service. We're

         22  hoping it's better service than you traditionally

         23  provided to Astoria and Long Island City. Your

         24  customer interruption rate, which you base this rate

         25  increase on, again, your numbers. Overseen by the
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          2  Public Service Commission, which has been

          3  pathetically asleep at the switch for years and

          4  years, hopefully is waking up now. I know there's a

          5  prudency hearing that is still supposed to happen.

          6  Every independent report on this blackout, not

          7  yours, yours isn't independent, but every other

          8  independent report has found you to be grossly

          9  negligent when it comes to this blackout, every

         10  aspect of it, providing the power, communicating

         11  with the community.

         12                 In what universe does gross

         13  negligence get rewarded with a rate increase?

         14                 MR. MIKSAD: I don't think this is

         15  about a reward. I think this is about supporting the

         16  investment level that's needed to meet the growth of

         17  the City to maintain a level of reliability that all

         18  customers expect, and to really be in line with what

         19  the Mayor and Governor have stated are their

         20  objectives with regard to energy efficiency.

         21                 This is not a reward for Con Edison.

         22  This is about just maintaining the systems that we

         23  need to.

         24                 It seems to me that, you know, if you

         25  believe that we have not been investing properly up
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          2  to this point, you would recommend that we do so

          3  now. If you believe that we have been maintaining

          4  the most reliable system in the world, which I

          5  believe we have, you would trust us to say that this

          6  is what we need to continue that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, I

          8  believe that you have not been investing in the

          9  infrastructure in the ways that were necessary.

         10                 But Con Ed is coming to us, coming to

         11  the Public Service Commission for a rate increase,

         12  acting like their paupers, acting like they aren't

         13  already, if not the highest, then one of the highest

         14  electric rates in the entire country. You are the

         15  most expensive in the entire country, therefore, you

         16  must have the resources necessary to make these

         17  improvements. You're not saying, look, we make the

         18  same as Alabama makes, we need more money to make

         19  these improvements. You charge more than anyone in

         20  the country. Why haven't you been able to make these

         21  improvements with the money you already have?

         22                 MR. MIKSAD: This is New York City.

         23  Everything costs more in New York City. Real estate.

         24  We're the highest taxpayer in New York City, in New

         25  York State, if I'm not mistaken. Twenty-eight
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          2  percent of the bill is taxes, sales or property.

          3                 It costs more to do things in the

          4  City. And there are utilities such as down in

          5  Florida, which have gone through a number of

          6  hurricanes, where their commission is actually

          7  considering ordering them to build underground

          8  systems. They have done studies, and others have

          9  done studies that show underground design systems

         10  costs ten to 100 times orders of magnitude more than

         11  the type of system that you'll find out in Ohio or

         12  Pennsylvania.

         13                 That's part of what goes into this

         14  mix. Our substations are built with a second

         15  contingency design, that we can support the loss of

         16  two of any of those facilities on a peak summer day

         17  without any impact to customers. We don't have to

         18  build it that way. It costs more to build it that

         19  way, but that's what's expected by our customers.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: We understand

         21  that things cost more in New York City, and that's

         22  why you charge the highest rates in the entire

         23  country, but to come in here and say you can't make

         24  improvements without asking even more, without

         25  asking a huge rate increase, just flies in the face
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          2  of our sensibility.

          3                 I know that Leroy Comrie wants me to

          4  move on, so let me just move on to, speaking of the

          5  money you spend, advertising. After the blackout you

          6  took out an immense amount of advertisement in the

          7  papers. Full, centerfolds of newspapers, and these

          8  advertisements didn't say what the community should

          9  do to conserve energy so that you don't have to

         10  transmit much, not that we don't have it, but you

         11  certainly don't have to transmit as much, didn't

         12  give conservation tips. It had a huge "On It." Giant

         13  full-page advertisements that say "On It,"

         14  advertising your company. Why should ratepayers have

         15  to pay for your company's promotion campaign?

         16                 MR. MIKSAD: My understanding is they

         17  did not. That came out of shareholder dollars.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Explain to me

         19  the difference.

         20                 MR. MIKSAD: The difference is that,

         21  in other words, we reduced earnings, we reduced the

         22  dividend to our shareholders in order to pay for

         23  that campaign.

         24                 So, investors paid, not customers.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: All right,
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          2  I'd actually need to look at books to question that,

          3  but money is fungible. The money is coming from

          4  somewhere, and the money that gets paid to the

          5  shareholders originally comes from the ratepayers.

          6  So, they're making less, because you're spending it

          7  on advertising, but it's still coming from the

          8  ratepayers.

          9                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, it all does. Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.

         11                 I have written letters asking what

         12  the parameters are for your advertising, if there is

         13  some number you are mandated to spend, if there is

         14  some message you're supposed to give out in your

         15  advertising. I wrote requesting that your

         16  advertising do what, actually your last week or so

         17  of advertising does, which is explain how to

         18  conserve energy and how to make the City as green as

         19  possible, which I've seen recently.

         20                 MR. MIKSAD: Mm-hmm.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: The response

         22  was that your company doesn't listen to the

         23  simplistic ideas of any individual, which I thought

         24  was interesting. But are there any guidelines to the

         25  advertising that you put out, either regarding
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          2  content or regarding amount?

          3                 MR. MIKSAD: I'm not sure. It's really

          4  not my area of expertise. But I could find out if

          5  there are some guidelines from the Commission. I

          6  expect there are some. I don't think they bound it.

          7  I expect there are certain areas where they expect

          8  us to communicate to customers, either through bill

          9  inserts or marketing. But I could find out the

         10  details.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: The last area

         12  was stray voltage. And you mentioned the trucks,

         13  which I've had personal demonstrations of, and I

         14  think are great, which you have the only fleet in

         15  the world that have these stray voltage trucks?

         16                 MR. MIKSAD: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay. And

         18  apparently they've been very successful. But of

         19  course I have sources who tell me they've been so

         20  successful that you've actually had to stop using

         21  them. In fact, there was a press report about the

         22  fact that you found so many of these stray voltage

         23  sites, you had to pay livery cab drivers to check

         24  them. And I'm told that that wasn't the only

         25  ramification. Not only did you have to pay livery
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          2  cab drivers, but you had to actually stop using the

          3  trucks, or sending them out much less frequently

          4  because of all the stray voltage that you've been

          5  finding.

          6                 So, explain to us how this system has

          7  been progressing, how much stray voltage you've been

          8  finding, and have you actually found so much that

          9  you've had to actually stop using them in the method

         10  you've anticipated?

         11                 MR. MIKSAD: Well, I guess the first

         12  part of that with regard to the success, we believe

         13  they've been very successful. We are actually

         14  finding more stray voltage than previous years.

         15  We've been at this since 2004, since the death of

         16  Jodi Lane. And we've come a long way. We started out

         17  with a push-type of device that an operator pushed

         18  along the sidewalk and it measured voltage. We

         19  evolved into, in a relatively short period of time,

         20  into the proto-type of the device that you actually

         21  wrote in, which was a trailer pulled by a pick-up

         22  truck which had these electric field detectors in

         23  the trailer, and now we've got this antenna array

         24  that's mounted to the pick-up truck, and we have

         25  upped the fleet from five last year to 15. We
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          2  actually went up to the 15 in about November of last

          3  year.

          4                 So, that's really probably the major

          5  reason why we're finding more. We've got more

          6  vehicles out there. We've got the full-blown fleet.

          7                 I guess the other difference is that

          8  we have enhanced the process over the course of the

          9  last three and a half years, where we'll actually

         10  using electric field hand-held, electric field

         11  detectors, to hone in on these elicit stray voltages

         12  faster. So, it's allowing us to move quicker with

         13  the device.

         14                 Last year we did one complete pass

         15  through the City in monitoring stray voltage. This

         16  year we have upped that to four. We're doing four

         17  passes throughout the City. Plus, whenever it snows

         18  we're running these vehicles 24/7 because that's

         19  when stray voltage mostly occur, after a snow storm

         20  when the salt goes down.

         21                 So, it's four standard passes through

         22  the City, and then whenever a snowstorm occurs this

         23  year. What we're proposing in the rate plan is

         24  actually to up that again to eight passes through

         25  the City for each year, and obviously continue with
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          2  the snow storms.

          3                 So, we have, each and every year

          4  between 2004, 2005, 2006 and now 2007, we have

          5  increased the amount of scans that we've used, we've

          6  increased the amount of vehicles, so we're out

          7  there, with really a mission two-fold: One is to

          8  prevent stray voltage from happening; the other is,

          9  if it does happen, to make sure we find it before it

         10  affects a pedestrian or an animal. So, that's really

         11  the plan. And I think we have been very successful

         12  in doing that.

         13                 I actually met with Roger Lane,

         14  Jodi's father, two weeks ago. We brought him in to

         15  go over our program, what we're doing, and I think

         16  he would tell you, I think he is very pleased at how

         17  far we've come in this relatively short period of

         18  time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I think you

         20  should know he's an engineer.

         21                 MR. MIKSAD: He is an engineer, yes.

         22  But he also lost a daughter.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Oh,

         24  absolutely. I just meant that him looking at this

         25  means a lot more than me looking at it because I'm
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          2  not an engineer and he has expertise in the area.

          3                 So, you said you have 15 trucks.

          4  Divided by borough, how are they sent throughout the

          5  City?

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: We own the trucks. They

          7  are operated by a company called Sornoff (phonetic).

          8  They actually helped us develop the vehicles. They

          9  are housed in a warehouse right across the river,

         10  and dispatched from that location. They're

         11  dispatched down there also. And, so, they actually

         12  coordinate that activity. They have GPS on all of

         13  those trucks so they know where they are when

         14  they're there. They generally split them between the

         15  boroughs. Staten Island really is primarily an

         16  overhead system, so it's really not a stray voltage

         17  issue. It's really, Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens and

         18  Manhattan. So, they're dispatched throughout the

         19  four boroughs. And to your point, yes, we do want to

         20  keep those vehicles moving. So, actually they

         21  subcontracted with the livery cab drivers, only

         22  because they were a pool of about 2,000 people that

         23  were available quickly. Their response time has been

         24  phenomenal, so they can essentially relieve the

         25  vehicle, make the area safe, and allow the vehicle
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          2  to continue until Con Edison, a troubleshooter can

          3  actually get there and affect repairs. So, they

          4  coordinate that whole process from that control

          5  center.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Too many joke

          7  ideas flying in my head there. But seriously, once

          8  you find a location, what's the next step? Either

          9  your personal guard or livery cab driver guards it,

         10  so someone comes to fix it, and how long does that

         11  take? What's the average process there?

         12                 MR. MIKSAD: On a day like today,

         13  we'll be out there in a half an hour. On those days

         14  where we do get backed up, and in particular after a

         15  snow storm, we'll see this number rise, because as I

         16  said, we're out there 24/7, and so whatever we find,

         17  we're going to stand by until we can make it safe.

         18  But we will not leave that location until we make it

         19  safe. It doesn't matter whether it's 20 volts or one

         20  volt, we will not leave it until we make it safe.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I have many

         22  more questions on the grate situation, g-r-a-t-e,

         23  and your manhole inspection policies and things, but

         24  Chair Comrie has been more than generous with his

         25  time and so I'll cede my time back to the Chair.
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          2                 You have been tremendous whenever I

          3  have asked for information when you have testified

          4  before this Committee, I have great respect for the

          5  people that you work with. My problem is not with

          6  you, but just that you happen to be here. But thanks

          7  again for all the information.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, Chair

          9  Vallone.

         10                 I want to go back to an unclear

         11  answer. Why is the rate increase request such a

         12  dramatic percentage increase to both customers and

         13  commercial tenants? Why can't we have a steady

         14  increase over time? Why is it jumping from like 17

         15  percent in one year, and ten percent for a business?

         16  Why is there such a dramatic increase in one year?

         17                 MR. MIKSAD: I think the best,

         18  simplest way to answer that question is shown on

         19  that slide 25. It shows that almost half of the

         20  increase is essentially a carry-over from the

         21  current rate increase, that 515 million on that top

         22  line is what's really happening now between 2005 to

         23  2008, so half of it is really a carry-over from what

         24  we're doing now, which would have -- if we didn't

         25  have that, the rate increase would have been
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          2  significantly less, in fact almost half.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Are you carrying

          4  over the 2005 into the 17 percent you're saying?

          5  This is a rollover? When would you expect to have

          6  this rate increase enacted?

          7                 MR. MIKSAD: This rate plan would go

          8  into effect April of 2008.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And you're

         10  putting in this rate increase request separate and

         11  apart from the investigation that's being done as

         12  opposed to what happened last year, what are they

         13  calling it a perb?

         14                 MR. MIKSAD: The prudence hearing?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The prudence

         16  hearing.

         17                 MR. MIKSAD: That is separate and

         18  apart from that, yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And does it

         20  go before the same entity for consideration?

         21                 MR. MIKSAD: It goes through an

         22  administrative law judge. Ultimately I imagine it

         23  goes through a commission also. So, I guess the

         24  answer to your question is yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, they'll be
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          2  considering doing the prudence at the same time that

          3  they're doing the rate increase pretty much?

          4                 MR. MIKSAD: They will overlap, that's

          5  correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          7                 But you're saying that the 17 percent

          8  is not really 17 percent? It's 17 percent minus the

          9  2005 rate increase?

         10                 MR. MIKSAD: No, that's not what I

         11  said. It really is 17 percent. A good portion of it

         12  is -- I was trying to answer your question as to why

         13  this step increase occurred in rates. What I

         14  attempted to do was to say that a good half, almost

         15  half of it is as a result of essentially customers

         16  not getting as much of a rate increase in this

         17  current rate plan.

         18                 And just to explain what I mean by

         19  that is, there was a -- I'm not a rate expert by any

         20  stretch of the imagination, but rates are set at a

         21  certain level of capital investment, and my

         22  understanding is that the Commission did not want to

         23  charge customers a penny more than they absolutely

         24  had to.

         25                 So, they set a relatively low capital

                                                            74

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  investment threshold of about $750 million or so.

          3  But built into the rate plan was that if Con Edison

          4  invested more than that, which we said we thought we

          5  could, they were a bit skeptical, but we thought we

          6  could, in order to effect some of those programs

          7  that we mentioned, that we wanted to make sure that

          8  we did the work that we could do.

          9                 So that was really it. They set a

         10  lower threshold. We spent a lot more than the

         11  threshold each year, and that's now coming into

         12  effect for this rate plan.

         13                 So, essentially it's been a deferred

         14  increase over a three-year period.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you're

         16  looking to recupe your physical investment, in other

         17  words?

         18                 MR. MIKSAD: That's correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And how is your

         20  investment, or how is it delineated that you

         21  actually spent the money, on all of these projects

         22  and plans? How do you provide that documentation to

         23  the PSC or to show that you've actually done the

         24  cabling or done all the work? Because we really

         25  don't know. You're all underground. You might be
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          2  just going down there playing Monopoly.

          3                 MR. MIKSAD: Understood. We actually

          4  submit to the Commission staff, I believe it's three

          5  or four times a year, a status of our expenditures

          6  of our investments, and so we show them, actually in

          7  some detail, by project in many cases, here is the

          8  status of this project, here is the status of this

          9  project. So, we do that, just about as I say, either

         10  three or four times a year, we review that with

         11  them.

         12                 We've also filed extensive testimony

         13  for this rate plan, which outlines in great detail a

         14  lot more than what I talked about today in the

         15  presentation.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And as far as

         17  growth is concerned, when you're doing these

         18  installations, a lot of the stuff that you're doing

         19  now is actually reinstallations, correct? Council

         20  Member Vallone talked about the fact that you're

         21  only up to 24 feet, although trying to get to 25;

         22  how much future capacity are you allowed to

         23  self-initiate? Or is everything done -- can you

         24  self-initiate capacity, or do you have to go to the

         25  PSC to increase capacity in particular areas?
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          2                 MR. MIKSAD: No, we initiate that. And

          3  that really is triggered based on that ten-year load

          4  forecast that I mentioned. So, once that is in

          5  place, that's the basis of all of the reinforcement

          6  that we do, on a substation level, the transmission

          7  level and distribution level. So, once that forecast

          8  is outlined for a system and by the network, that

          9  then guides the plan.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, is that a new

         11  process, the ten-year outlook?

         12                 MR. MIKSAD: No. I've been with the

         13  company for 26 years, and there was a ten-year load

         14  forecast that happened when I came here. And I'm

         15  sure many, many years before that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, well, then

         17  that goes back to Councilman Vallone's question as

         18  to why the Long Island City Network, if there had

         19  been a ten-year load forecast, with all the work

         20  going on there, how come they were still at 22

         21  cables last year? It begs the question if your

         22  forecasting is actually moving into actual work, and

         23  making sure that there's prepreparation for

         24  anticipated new load. If there had been a ten-year

         25  forecast ten years ago, then, you know, why are we
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          2  still at 22 cables in that network?

          3                 I'm just using that as a typical

          4  example that there has got to be something missing

          5  in that equation.

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: Well, what it means is

          7  that the 22 feeders had sufficient capacity to

          8  supply the forecasted demand for the Long Island

          9  City Network last year. That's what it meant.

         10  Because every network going into the summer has all

         11  feeders and the substation within their design

         12  criteria. And that's our policy, that's the way it's

         13  been, that's the way it's always been, and that's

         14  the way it continues to be. So that every network is

         15  designed so that on the peak summer day we can lose

         16  any two feeders without any impact to customers

         17  whatsoever. And there is no one else that has that

         18  level of design in the State or in the Country.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you're saying

         20  that you have a design. I'm sorry, we've been joined

         21  by Council Member DeBlasio, a member of the

         22  Environmental Protection, Environmental Committee.

         23                 So, you're saying that even though

         24  you designed it, and forecasted a ten-year

         25  projection, your projection doesn't move into place
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          2  until actually the loads go past capacity, or

          3  they're at capacity? How do you monitor capacity?

          4                 MR. MIKSAD: We will allow the

          5  feeders, for example, or the substation to go to 100

          6  percent but no higher.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          8                 If you go back to your slide that you

          9  showed with the capital construction, with or

         10  without --

         11                 MR. MIKSAD: Oh, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I was just

         13  interested in slide 13. You show the 2011 without

         14  capital projects and with capital projects. You

         15  still have most of your service area operating

         16  between 95 and 100 percent of capacity; is that

         17  within tolerable limits by the Public Service

         18  Commission?

         19                 It seems to me that you still have

         20  most of the City that will be operating at capacity

         21  for even with these capital projects, at maximum

         22  capacity, even if there is not a further -- and if

         23  you look at, I think Northern Bronx, there are many

         24  projects scheduled for up there. I'm not sure, you

         25  know, the Eastern Queens and the Rockaways, there
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          2  are projects scheduled all over Queens. It just

          3  seems to me that even with these projects that will

          4  be implemented by 2011, you're still operating at a

          5  larger risk.

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: I understand your point.

          7  Although it is within our design. It is within

          8  Public Service Commission limitations. Our average

          9  annual growth is about a percent and a half to two

         10  percent, so a five-percent margin would still allow

         11  for, you know, two years or so, two, three years of

         12  growth in some areas. Some areas in our system do

         13  grow faster than the system average. But that would

         14  be reflected in the forecast.

         15                 I guess the other thing that I

         16  mentioned earlier, that is not reflected in this

         17  slide, is the fact that just -- I only included the

         18  five substations that are actually going to be

         19  energized by -- within the rate window, 2008 to

         20  2010. What it doesn't reflect, but I had mentioned

         21  it, between 2011, and 2016, there will be another

         22  ten substations that are forecasted to come on line

         23  to relieve some of those orange areas that you see

         24  on that slide.

         25                 So, that will further drive some
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          2  additional margin into the system.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you're

          4  optimum operating capacity is 95 to 100 percent, or

          5  is it below 90 percent?

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: I'm not sure --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: As far as safety

          8  margin. I mean, wouldn't you want most of your area

          9  or infrastructure to be operating safely like at an

         10  80 percent level so that you could have spikes and

         11  surges? That's what I'm trying to get to.

         12                 MR. MIKSAD: I understand.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Comfort level. To

         14  me, this is not a comfort level.

         15                 MR. MIKSAD: I understand.

         16                 All of this reflects, when we talk

         17  about capacity on these slides, this is the capacity

         18  with the contingency, after the contingency occurs.

         19                 So, in other words, this allows for

         20  the failure that you just alluded to, and then says,

         21  okay, do we have enough capacity after that failure.

         22                 So, there is additional margin, if we

         23  actually looked at all system in service, there

         24  would be additional margin on this slide. This

         25  actually takes into account the contingency level,

                                                            81

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  you know, into it. So, there is more standby

          3  capacity that's reflected but we're not taking

          4  credit for that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, I'm sorry.

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: That's okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I technically was

          8  supposed to be gone now to meet with the Deputy

          9  Mayor on an emergency in my district, but since Jim

         10  Gennaro is still not here, I have to now send an

         11  e-mail to the Deputy Mayor to apologize for being

         12  late.

         13                 Excuse me one second.

         14                 Okay, so, you're saying that

         15  basically even when you have this at 90 percent, you

         16  still have enough redundancy to deal with, or 95 to

         17  100 percent, which is more than half of the network

         18  here, with the capital projects, if you still have

         19  enough redundancy to deal with any spikes or surges

         20  or anything else?

         21                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, that's what I'm

         22  saying. And I'm also saying that there are

         23  additional substations coming in after this rate

         24  plan. That will add additional margin to allow for

         25  additional growth in those areas.

                                                            82

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Just back

          3  to your rate plan again. So, you're saying that you

          4  passed on the cost of taxes and charges over to the

          5  customers, as well?

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, that's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, any tax

          8  increase is passed on to the customers through a

          9  request to PSC to increase the rate, or is that part

         10  of your overall rate plan adjustment?

         11                 MR. MIKSAD: I'm not sure exactly how

         12  that works. But your first statement is correct,

         13  that it does -- I don't know if there is a true op

         14  (phonetic) or what, but there is a mechanism that

         15  taxes are passed through to customers, yes?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Just staying on

         17  the rate increase, you've already received approval

         18  to spend from the years 2005 to 2007 2.47 billion,

         19  as well as 250 million for conservation programs.

         20  Are those the conservation programs that were talked

         21  about in a press release with the Mayor yesterday?

         22  Or are these additional conservation programs that

         23  were talked about? And what, if anything, has been

         24  the increase in the ability to ensure that energy

         25  conservation has been done within that $250 million
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          2  budget or has there been an acknowledgment that that

          3  budget has to be increased?

          4                 MR. MIKSAD: I'm not sure of the 250

          5  million. So, that's part of the rate plan?

          6                 MS. CRAFT: Yes.

          7                 MR. MIKSAD: So, that's part of the

          8  rate plan. I guess we're adding 113 million

          9  additional for energy efficiency programs.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you're adding

         11  113 million to the 250 million? Or are you adding

         12  113 million to the new rate plan request?

         13                 MR. MIKSAD: I guess to the existing

         14  250 million.

         15                 MS. CRAFT: That's right.

         16                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, and that

         18  will provide the ability to create more ad

         19  campaigns? Or actually do what exactly to ensure

         20  energy efficiency and conservation?

         21                 MR. MIKSAD: Do you want to talk?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You might want to

         23  come to the mike and identify yourself. Sorry to

         24  have to move you, but the Sergeant-Of-Arms will get

         25  after me if I don't.
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          2                 MS. CRAFT: My name is Rebecca Craft.

          3  I'm the Director of Energy Efficiency at Con Ed.

          4                 The 113 million reflects the

          5  three-year portion of our 500 megawatt proposal to

          6  reduce demand on a permanent basis within the

          7  service area by 500 megawatts by 2016.

          8                 We have proposed achieving about 138

          9  megawatts of that in the three years of the rate

         10  plan, assuming that a petition we've put in for

         11  funding, staffing up now, is approved.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And to do that,

         13  what type of methods are you talking about?

         14                 MS. CRAFT: We currently have what we

         15  call a targeted program in place, where we contract

         16  with vendors to go through areas of our service

         17  territory where there is a need for reinforcement

         18  and we work with commercial, industrial and

         19  residential installations to reduce their load

         20  through various measures, lighting, HVAC, motors. We

         21  will continue that program over a broader area.

         22                 We also proposed to do a system-wide

         23  program which will include similar types of

         24  measures, and we are piloting some other measures

         25  right now to see if they will be viable to do in the
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          2  service territory, looking at data centers in

          3  particular, which are large energy users, and other

          4  large sort of energy sinks like that, to see how we

          5  can reduce load for them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And for the 2030

          7  plan, have you incorporated that in your plan to

          8  reduce usage? The ideas in the 2030 plan, if you had

          9  a chance to read them and take a look at it?

         10                 MS. CRAFT: Yes, we have. We have

         11  structured our plan to sink up (sic) with that plan.

         12  We expect to work very closely with the City. We

         13  have started to do that already, and we think it is

         14  only by working together with the City that we'll be

         15  able to achieve ambitious goals, both of the plan

         16  and our goals.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Are there any

         18  other technologies that you are looking at to help

         19  increase the diminished capacity?

         20                 MS. CRAFT: We're certainly looking at

         21  a number of technologies, although a number of the

         22  measures we expect to install are the traditional

         23  improvements in lighting, which account for a lot of

         24  energy use, and can account for a lot of

         25  improvement.
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          2                 As I said, we're looking to pilot a

          3  program with data centers that uses some geothermal

          4  technology. We're looking at certain types of

          5  storage devices to see if they can be used to reduce

          6  load on a longer than for the peak and similar types

          7  of items.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          9                 And is part of the money to do for

         10  research and development also? Or is this money just

         11  for information purposes and to create opportunities

         12  to do implementation of the particular programs.

         13                 MS. CRAFT: The bulk of the money is

         14  for the ladder. However, our Research and

         15  Development group also has a separate budget, and

         16  they use part of that budget for certain R&D as

         17  well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         19                 Well, since we're not having a quorum

         20  today, it looks like -- Council Member Koppell had

         21  some real issues with slide number 11, about the

         22  increasing capacity by creating a, what is this, a

         23  new feeder line? What is that green line that's

         24  going down slide 11?

         25                 MR. MIKSAD: That is a depiction of
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          2  the route, the proposed route of an underground

          3  transmission feeder that will connect to

          4  substations, one in Yonkers, in Westchester --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mm-hmm.

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: And on the southern end,

          7  it's northern tip of Manhattan. It will allow about

          8  350 megawatts more capacity to come into the City,

          9  and as I mentioned, it also will allow for cheaper,

         10  more cheaper power, so it will I think have an

         11  impact on bills also, from upstate to get into the

         12  City. So, it's the route of an underground

         13  transmission line, which is essentially just a large

         14  pipe that's buried four, six, eight feet underneath

         15  the surface.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And is this going

         17  to disturb any existing projects or developments

         18  while this line is being created?

         19                 MR. MIKSAD: I don't think it will

         20  affect any developments or projects.

         21                 I think it will result in some street

         22  obstruction and perhaps closures in the course of

         23  construction, but once it's completed, it will be

         24  invisible to everyone.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is this
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          2  concurrent with the water tunnel project in the

          3  Bronx? I'm trying to figure out why Council Member

          4  Koppell is upset about this.

          5                 MR. MIKSAD: It's not --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you have any

          7  understanding why he would be upset about a project

          8  like this?

          9                 MR. MIKSAD: The first I heard about

         10  it was when he mentioned it --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: He didn't get a

         12  chance to share it with me. I'm just trying to

         13  articulate for him his -- I don't know what his

         14  reasons for not liking it. But this is not the power

         15  line that they had rerouted in Yonkers? There was a

         16  question of a line in Yonkers that would have been

         17  rerouted or power transmission line that had been

         18  rerouted?

         19                 John, you know anything about that?

         20  No.

         21                 MR. BANKS: Hi. John Banks, Con

         22  Edison.

         23                 Mr. Chairman, this is the M 29

         24  Project, which would, as John said, bring power from

         25  Yonkers into Northern Manhattan. I believe the
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          2  Council member has joined a coalition of people who

          3  were opposed to the route that we had proposed to

          4  the Public Service Commission. That route has, three

          5  weeks ago, been approved by an Administrative Law

          6  Judge hearing the issue, and has recommended that

          7  the route that Con Edison has proposed be the route

          8  that the Public Service Commission approve.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         10                 MR. BANKS: The coalition that sought

         11  to have the route go down the Major Deegan Highway,

         12  which the Commission, Administrative Law Judge, and

         13  the New York State Department of Highways, rejected

         14  for obvious reasons, of construction on the Major

         15  Deegan.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All right,

         17  thank you.

         18                 We have been joined by Council Member

         19  Mark Viverito from Manhattan, and we've been joined

         20  by Council Member Bill DeBlasio, neither of which

         21  are on the Consumer Affairs Committee so we could

         22  have a quorum, but what I'm going to do at this

         23  point in time is to thank Mr. Miksad for being here.

         24  I don't have any other developmental questions for

         25  him.
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          2                 Council Member Vallone, are you okay?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm good.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, okay. Just

          5  doublechecking.

          6                 Anybody else? Council Member

          7  DeBlasio?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman.

         10                 I remember when one of the last times

         11  you were here we were talking, unfortunately, about

         12  some of the cases where pedestrians and animals were

         13  harmed because of sites that had electricity in them

         14  and people were not aware of. And I know you earlier

         15  testified about the use of the trucks. You have

         16  intensified the use of those and I appreciate that.

         17                 I wish I could remember the exact

         18  exchange we had, because it was a good while back,

         19  but I remember my concern revolved around the

         20  combination of letting people know where there might

         21  be a dangerous site and sufficiently marking it and

         22  also any other steps you can take to ensure that

         23  once a site you believed was corrected, that you

         24  were confirming that it was corrected, rather than

         25  just doing it remotely.
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          2                 So, I know you testified about the

          3  trucks, but you testified also about how you manage

          4  a specific site once it is identified and until it

          5  is fully resolved.

          6                 MR. MIKSAD: Yes, I remembering the

          7  specific --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Your mind is

          9  better than mine.

         10                 MR. MIKSAD: Well, you just reminded

         11  me. The specific example we were talking about,

         12  Marcus, the dog in Brooklyn. And what had happened

         13  was the DOT removed the street light, and left the

         14  service energized to that street light, even though

         15  the street light had been either relocated or

         16  removed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Right.

         18                 MR. MIKSAD: And I think the exchange

         19  we had was about our confirmation that the service

         20  was in fact disconnected when the service to either

         21  a street light, or a building for that matter,

         22  that's going to be demolished, is going to be

         23  removed.

         24                 We did shortly after that meeting

         25  change the practice and the policy to ensure not
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          2  only that the service was cut, but we had a

          3  supervisor required to go and verify that had

          4  actually happened.

          5                 So, that is in place.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: For every

          7  site now where you have that kind of situation?

          8                 MR. MIKSAD: That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Excellent. I

         10  appreciate that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, I want to

         12  thank you for coming today and representing Con Ed,

         13  and giving us your case for building towards your

         14  rate case. I do want to suggest, though, that Con

         15  Edison do look into -- does look into providing

         16  direct generation opportunities for some of these

         17  larger facilities that are going on line.

         18                 I think that you would still be doing

         19  -- I think you would be doing yourself justice and

         20  doing some preplanning by looking at some of these

         21  larger projects. I know from a construction

         22  standpoint, they probably don't want to build it in

         23  because it's going to cost more money in

         24  construction, but I think if Con Ed starts to think

         25  about how they can provide the generation, either
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          2  through a new substation or other type of pre, I

          3  don't know the technical term, but to provide an

          4  opportunity for those people to become beneficiaries

          5  of direct generation through a Con Ed supply, or a

          6  supply that's managed or maintained by the utility

          7  would give an opportunity to power them off line and

          8  protect the residential, other residential areas.

          9  So, I think that's something that Con Ed needs to

         10  look into as a part of the policy.

         11                 I am still fearful of this slide

         12  number 13, which unlucky 13 makes sense, you know,

         13  the infrastructure support, which you'll still be

         14  operating at mostly 95 to 100 percent capacity, even

         15  with all of that capital being done. But on the

         16  other hand, knowing that you're looking to do a 17

         17  percent rate increase on homeowners in one year,

         18  there's got to be some way to create a real balance.

         19  So, I want to thank you for being here, thank Con

         20  Edison. You have been providing us detailed

         21  responses to all of our questions, and I want to

         22  thank you for continuing to do that and being here

         23  today, and I'll look forward to talking with you

         24  soon.

         25                 MR. MIKSAD: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next we're going

          3  to hear from Anthony, I can't read your last name.

          4  Pereira? Okay, you're an attorney with NYSEIA?

          5  Alternate Power ACE, New York. Okay, you can have a

          6  seat and tell it to the mike. Do you want to say

          7  your name for the record, and your background?

          8                 MR. PEREIRA: Sure. My name is Anthony

          9  Pereira. I am President and CEO of altPOWER, which

         10  is a renewal energy company based here on Maiden

         11  Lane. I'm also on the Board of the New York Solar

         12  Energy Industries Association, and also on the Board

         13  of Alliance for Clean Energy, New York.

         14                 I'd like to thank you, sir, the

         15  honorable Mr. Comrie, and also the honorable Mr.

         16  Gennaro for this opportunity to speak.

         17                 You know, altPOWER is a small but

         18  fast growing renewal energy company, again, located

         19  here in Manhattan. We have offices in New Jersey and

         20  also in Connecticut, which are two excellent markets

         21  for renewable energy, because the governments in

         22  those states are stepping up with good incentives.

         23                 You know, I have a typo on my

         24  presentation. I note that we have eight full-time

         25  employees. That number has, since January, gone up
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          2  to 12, and we have four part-time employees. So,

          3  we're doing well. We're responsible for all the

          4  projects in Battery Park City. Some of the projects

          5  NYPA has done, including Queens Botanical Gardens,

          6  New York Hall of Science, and Bronx High School of

          7  Science.

          8                 New York Solar Energy Industries

          9  Association has over 100 members, and the Alliance

         10  for Clean Energy is based in Albany and also has

         11  above 50 members, mainly wind companies with ACE New

         12  York.

         13                 Solar energy is an option for the

         14  City. A lot of this stuff is pretty simple, and it's

         15  also been stated before, even Con Ed is stating some

         16  of these things. You know, major studies show that

         17  new York City can reduce peak production of peak

         18  demand for power during the peak hours on days

         19  exactly like this because if they use solar energy

         20  or if it's distributed around the City, the demand

         21  for power occurs on hot, sunny days, and that's when

         22  solar energy works best. So, understudies have been

         23  done, you know, marked by Governor Pataki during his

         24  reign to have SUNY Albany and Dr. Richard Perez

         25  review the demand of Con Edison, with the
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          2  availability of solar power.

          3                 And it appears that solar energy

          4  would actually work better than most other sources

          5  of distributed energy, distributed generation,

          6  because of the coincidence of peak solar power and

          7  demand again.

          8                 There are studies, further studies

          9  show that New York City receives two and a half

         10  times the energy required, or that Con Edison system

         11  can even supply just from the sun, every single

         12  year.

         13                 Other studies show there is over

         14  6,000 megawatts of potential roof space, parking

         15  lots, airports, piers that can have solar energy

         16  distributed on them that would allow them to produce

         17  energy again at the peak demand hours.

         18                 The solar energy industry is one of

         19  the largest job creators in the energy production

         20  area. Worldwide the average growth rate is about 35

         21  percent for the industry. And one of the key things

         22  about what's going on with the New York Independent

         23  System Operator, they allow and they actually pay

         24  distributor generators, mainly dirty diesel

         25  generators, to produce power during these peak hours
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          2  and solar power is not an eligible technology for

          3  that money. The money already exists, it's just not

          4  being allowed to be used by solar power. And a City

          5  that has such a high rate of childhood asthma and as

          6  a father of two kids, this really concerns me and

          7  makes absolutely no sense that solar power can't get

          8  that money. We don't have to create a new pot, it

          9  already exists.

         10                 And, you know, Con Edison has on

         11  their presentation, they want to see 500 megawatts

         12  of reduction in power demand by 2016. Our industry,

         13  just coincidentally, is calling for 500 megawatts of

         14  solar to be installed by 2016. It's totally doable.

         15  Every year Germany has been installing, for the last

         16  three, 900 megawatts of solar power. They get half

         17  the sun that New York City gets.

         18                 So, what's needed? Well, I'm not

         19  exactly sure about where we are with the settlement

         20  with Con Edison on the blackouts of Long Island

         21  City, but some of the money that was used that was

         22  collected from Con Edison during the Washington

         23  Heights settlement, was used by NESCAUF and Clean

         24  Air Communities, to do energy efficiency and

         25  pollution reduction programs, including some solar
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          2  power projects, which we were lucky enough to be

          3  involved with, which is the Greenpoint Manufacturing

          4  and Design Center, Phase I and II, which is over 100

          5  KW PV power.

          6                 We're calling for the City and State

          7  to help expand the studies of Columbia University

          8  and SUNY Albany to identify how good a resource

          9  solar power is, and where we can do it in the five

         10  boroughs.

         11                 Though customers are willing to

         12  invest in solar electric systems, they should not

         13  have to pay for load evaluations. Often because of

         14  the network grid, Con Edison says, hey, you know,

         15  you want to do this under KW solar system on your

         16  building? Fine, you know, what's the load of the

         17  building? Tell us what it is. Who knows better than

         18  them, or who should know better than them what their

         19  customers are doing. Maybe the Smart meters can

         20  solve that problem.

         21                 Furthermore, you know, in the State

         22  we've been fighting for years to have commercial net

         23  metering a part of the legislation, and,

         24  unfortunately, it gets roadblocked every time that

         25  we think we have a chance, and including this year.
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          2  And at this time, you know, we know that Con Edison

          3  is saying that the network grid cannot support the

          4  metering, which is actually the exporting of excess

          5  solar power into the grid. And that's fine, until

          6  further studies are done. But statewide, especially

          7  in other parts of Con Edison's territory, which have

          8  radial grids, such as Westchester, we should have

          9  commercial net metering. It's another incentive, and

         10  if companies and homeowners are willing to invest in

         11  solar power, they should have the incentive to do

         12  it. It's not a cheap technology. It is economical,

         13  though, especially during peak demand times, but we

         14  need some help from government.

         15                 Commercial PV systems and sales tax

         16  exemptions should go into effect. It has been

         17  supported by New York City, and in fact, we don't

         18  have sales tax on residential systems. We're asking

         19  for that on commercial systems.

         20                 Pressure the PSC to follow the

         21  statutes when developing interconnection and net

         22  metering laws. It is clear that they are not

         23  actually following the law when they make their

         24  rules at the Public Service Commission and there's

         25  several cases that point to that.
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          2                 Eliminate engineering review charges

          3  for utilities for commercial systems.

          4                 The Greenpoint Manufacturing and

          5  Design Center installed a 65 KW system at their

          6  Manhattan Avenue headquarters. They were charged

          7  over $6,000 to have Con Edison engineers review the

          8  drawings and go and do an inspection. That makes

          9  absolutely no sense. They're the ones taking money

         10  out of their pockets to help the City clean the air

         11  and make a more reliable grid, and they're paying

         12  for Con Edison engineers to understand the system.

         13  It makes absolutely no sense to us. Eliminate those

         14  charges.

         15                 Work to make interconnection rules

         16  more logical, considering advantages of PV systems

         17  provided by Con Edison -- I'm sorry -- provided to

         18  Con Edison. Interconnection rules, when we have to

         19  apply it's so complex and difficult. Most states

         20  only have a one-page application. Ours is over 30

         21  pages.

         22                 Initiate a third-party review of the

         23  network system. Okay, we talked about a lot, and, in

         24  fact, in the past Con Edison had a review done where

         25  they actually paid the consulting firm to do it.

                                                            101

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  We're asking for an independent study to be done.

          3  This way we can understand we're on the grid, we can

          4  actually use solar power in a very effective way,

          5  and we can do so, again, without polluting our air

          6  and helping to combat global climate changes,

          7  mentioned in your briefing.

          8                 Okay, finally, this is where we're

          9  reaching out the branch to Con Ed. We believe Con

         10  Edison should be able to profit from solar energy.

         11  They're not allowed to own generation. We think they

         12  should be allowed to own generation. If it's clean

         13  and distributed, we think it will really ramp up the

         14  use of solar energy and other distributed sources of

         15  generation. Again, as long as they're clean. We have

         16  an air quality problem in this City. And if you look

         17  in the exhibits, a couple of them were not included,

         18  but Exhibit A shows the coincidence of peak demand

         19  during the Washington Heights blackout, or when the

         20  study was done, which shows that at about 1:00 p.m.,

         21  the peak solar output occurred right at the peak

         22  demand of Con Edison's customers.

         23                 Furthermore, Exhibit B shows that

         24  enough solar energy falls on the City of New York to

         25  provide two and a half times of Con Ed's total
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          2  generation in the five boroughs.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: What do you mean

          4  by that?

          5                 MR. PEREIRA: What do I mean by that?

          6  Okay, 160 kilowatt hours of solar energy touch the

          7  surface of New York City every year. On a square

          8  foot basis.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: How much can you

         10  harvest?

         11                 MR. PEREIRA: We can harvest

         12  approximately 22 kilowatt hours per year per square

         13  foot in the current conversion rates.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You said 160 --

         15                 MR. PEREIRA: Kilowatt hours of solar

         16  energy. We can harvest 22 kilowatt hours of that,

         17  which equals two and a half times Con Edison's total

         18  capacity. This has been done by satellites that have

         19  been provided by NASA and some very sophisticated --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you're saying

         21  that out of the max of 160 you can harvest 22

         22  kilowatts.

         23                 MR. PEREIRA: Yes. And actually that's

         24  at efficiencies at eight percent, which some solar

         25  cells now have 22 percent efficiencies. We're
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          2  actually using them right now in Battery Park City.

          3  So, that's even a conservative look at it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But is that

          5  Citywide, or is that just for a unit that's using

          6  it?

          7                 MR. PEREIRA: That's Citywide every

          8  square foot. So, obviously, you can't put it on

          9  every square foot of New York City. But the point is

         10  that it's two and a half times Con Edison's

         11  capacity. So, if we use just some of the roofs and

         12  some of the parking lots. Look at Kennedy Airport,

         13  LaGuardia Airport, all the piers that the EDC

         14  controls, there's a lot of space that we can use.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         16                 MR. PEREIRA: And a big thing is that

         17  it's a big job creator. One of the biggest job

         18  creators and energy source.

         19                 And that's my presentation, so if you

         20  have any questions?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         22  Viverito has some questions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Just

         24  quickly. There were articles that came out a couple

         25  of weeks ago with regards to Mayor Bloomberg's plans
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          2  on using solar energy on some buildings, or at least

          3  starting to implement this; are you familiar with

          4  that?

          5                 MR. PEREIRA: I'm familiar with the

          6  concept, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I don't

          8  know what your reaction is to that.

          9                 MR. PEREIRA: It's a very small

         10  attempt and it's really minor. Actually, it's a

         11  pittance at this point to what we really want to do

         12  and what we can do.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay,

         14  so, his proposal is primarily on municipal

         15  buildings, correct?

         16                 MR. PEREIRA: Yes. And that's a

         17  challenge because New York Power Authority supplies

         18  the municipal buildings with power, and the reason

         19  why it's going to be difficult for that RFP to even

         20  work is because for-profit companies are going to be

         21  asked to do power purchase agreements, which would

         22  mean that they'll put the system up at their expense

         23  and then they'll meter the City and ask the City to

         24  pay for every kilowatt hour solar systems make.

         25  That's fine, but they're going to be competing
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          2  against New York Power Authority's rates, which are

          3  amongst the lowest in the area. Eight cents a

          4  kilowatt hour. Plus, you know, we want to have good

          5  job creation with good livable wages. There will be

          6  a requirement for prevailing wage. Those two things

          7  together have a low rate, you know, the return on

          8  the investment for a private company can be very

          9  difficult. I'm not sure it's achievable.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: So,

         11  it's going to be done through an RFP.

         12                 MR. PEREIRA: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: And I'm

         14  assuming that's issued through EDC? Who is issuing

         15  the RFP, do you know?

         16                 MR. PEREIRA: I don't think they know,

         17  no. I'm not sure they know yet.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Listen,

         19  I'm learning. This is all new to me. Half of what

         20  you said I probably didn't understand, but you're

         21  raising some concerns that if there is going to be a

         22  City initiative, you know, there is going to be an

         23  RFP issued, if these factors haven't been taken into

         24  account, it's going to be ineffective. I'm wondering

         25  what level of conversations are happening to get
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          2  these concerns and address them before the RFP is

          3  issued.

          4                 So, we may want to look into that a

          5  little bit. But definitely, I would agree that it's

          6  probably a minor attempt. I think we should be doing

          7  much more, and I'm hoping that -- I mean, I guess

          8  they're seeing it as a pilot to figure out how it

          9  would work.

         10                 MR. PEREIRA: Yes, that makes no

         11  sense. Pilot program for proven technology. One of

         12  the most scrutinized technologies in history, you

         13  know, it's old technology, and one of the most

         14  reliable resources the world has ever known, that's

         15  why we use it on satellites, that's why we use it on

         16  emergency phones on the highways. This is reliable

         17  stuff. No pilot projects are needed. We need to

         18  initiate a program that works, that can get the

         19  stuff deployed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Now,

         21  let me ask you a question. In your information that

         22  you provided, on the first page you indicated that

         23  you have worked under contract for the NYC EDC and

         24  the NYPA, including the recently installed array of

         25  Bronx School of Science. What was the cost of that?
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          2  I mean, did it increase the cost of the project? Did

          3  it decrease? I mean, obviously, long term it's going

          4  to decrease, if I understand the use of energy, but

          5  what does it cost to do that type of work, and using

          6  that answer particularly, the Bronx High School of

          7  Science?

          8                 MR. PEREIRA: Actually, because I

          9  don't know what the New York Power Authority

         10  actually charges the City, beyond what my fees were.

         11  So, it's unclear to me what they are.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: But in

         13  terms of cost of putting in the solar.

         14                 MR. PEREIRA: Yes. Because we were

         15  under contract to New York Power Authority. New York

         16  Power Authority was the folks that sent the bill to

         17  the City. I don't know what their mark-up is.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I see.

         19  So, NYPA is the one that contracted you?

         20                 MR. PEREIRA: Yes. New York Power

         21  Authority, correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: But

         23  typically, can you give us -- I just want to get an

         24  understanding of a cost of implementation of your

         25  technology, or at least the technology of the solar
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          2  panels within a building of the Bronx High School.

          3  Like give me an idea.

          4                 MR. PEREIRA: Okay. I would say that

          5  on a per watt basis, it's probably in the range of

          6  $12 per watt installed. A typical City, what

          7  NYSERDA, New York State Energy Research Development

          8  Authority, is saying is average cost in New York is

          9  just over $8 a watt. So, you have the premium of

         10  doing the work in New York City.

         11                 However, we installed a system in New

         12  Jersey just last year that was under $6 a watt and

         13  the people had a four-year payback on that. It was

         14  over in Seacaucus, just a couple miles from here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Was that a

         16  school?

         17                 MR. PEREIRA: That was actually a

         18  private business.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Was it as large

         20  as the school site?

         21                 MR. PEREIRA: Oh, it was like 25 times

         22  bigger.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Oh my

         24  God.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So you're just
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          2  saying the cost of doing it in New York is more

          3  expensive?

          4                 MR. PEREIRA: Yes, I'm not just saying

          5  that. I'm also saying that in New Jersey they have

          6  an incentive program that works and encourages

          7  people to do it and makes paybacks for people who

          8  are willing to invest it faster.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Better than the

         10  NYSERDA program?

         11                 MR. PEREIRA: Better by far. You know,

         12  NYSERDA has got to be one of the worst programs in

         13  the country right now. They were one of the better

         14  ones, but right now they're really one of the worst.

         15  And they actually don't give us any more money to do

         16  work in New York City, even though the citizens of

         17  New York pay more than 50 percent of the systems

         18  benefits charged where they get their money --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         20                 MR. PEREIRA: We don't get any more

         21  than anybody else in the State. And if I do a system

         22  in Rochester, I get $4 a watt to install it, if I do

         23  it in the five boroughs, I get $4 a watt to install

         24  it. They don't even recognize the extra money it

         25  costs to do work here.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          3                 Thank you for coming.

          4                 You had a question, Councilman

          5  Gennaro?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chairman. Very sorry that I'm late. I appreciate

          8  your forbearance.

          9                 Anthony, two things: I want to thank

         10  you for once again being a great pioneer and

         11  champion and once New York City ultimately goes the

         12  way that it will go, regarding much more use of

         13  solar --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Councilman

         15  Gennaro, before you go into a detailed question,

         16  actually Council Member Koppell has to leave and

         17  he's been here on time and we need to do this vote

         18  on Intro. 577. He was here before.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: He was here all

         21  the time, actually.

         22                 And he and I are the quorum, so I

         23  would like to do this vote now.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Let me just read
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          2  it.

          3                 Before we proceed to vote, this

          4  Committee is charged with reviewing older

          5  legislation, and when necessary, revising the law to

          6  ensure language is unambiguous and readily

          7  enforceable.

          8                 Today we will vote on a bill that

          9  will amend an Administrative Code drafting oversight

         10  that has led to confusion with respect to the

         11  Administration of the Billiard Licensing Law.

         12                 Section 20-216 of title 20 defines a

         13  billiard or pocket billiard room as any place in

         14  which billiards or pocket billiards are played, and

         15  which includes billiards or pocket billiard tables.

         16                 The text is noticeably ambiguous as

         17  it does not provide a minimum number of tables to

         18  trigger the licensing requirement. Intro. 577-A will

         19  specify that any business offering three or more

         20  billiard tables for the public first obtain a

         21  license from the City.

         22                 Because Intro. 577-A will now set a

         23  fixed limit on the number of tables any business may

         24  offer without the need for a license, the bill will

         25  also repeal Section 20-221 of the Administrative
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          2  Code that exempted certain billiard tables based

          3  upon their size.

          4                 I want to thank Brian and Thomas and

          5  the Department of Consumer Affairs for their joint

          6  work on this issue. Again, this is an issue that

          7  we're just trying to clean up an ambiguous law to

          8  make it easier for businesses that have a couple of

          9  tables, not to have to deal with unnecessary

         10  over-regulation.

         11                 With that, I'd like to call the vote,

         12  unless any members have any questions on that

         13  particular vote? Great.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Comrie.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Gennaro.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Koppell.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: That's three in

         21  the affirmative, no negatives, zero abstentions.

         22  Item adopted.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right, great.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I just want

          3  to make clear, I'm also a member of the

          4  Environmental Committee.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And I'm here

          7  for that committee as well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And I gather

         10  we have another meeting at 1:00; is that right, Mr.

         11  Chairman?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: There's another

         13  meeting that's being held in this room at 1:00. So,

         14  we actually have to shut down, as you can see the

         15  Sergeant is trying to take my plaque.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I have

         17  to leave for the moment. I will be back at 1:00, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure, okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. So, where

         21  was I? Oh, Councilman Gennaro was getting ready to

         22  ask some questions to Mr. Pereira. I am going to

         23  run, since my meeting with the Deputy Mayor got

         24  ripped up, and I have to go try to resurrect it.

         25  And, so, I'm going to turn the meeting over at this
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          2  time to Council Member Gennaro, and thank all of you

          3  for attending. Again, I want to thank Brian Sogol,

          4  who this will probably be his last meeting.

          5  Hopefully we won't have any Con Ed emergencies this

          6  summer to have any emergency meetings about, but I

          7  just again want to thank him for his service to this

          8  Committee and this Council, and congratulate him in

          9  advance for the spectacular time he'll have in law

         10  school, so he'll be back to help out this City in

         11  one way or the other. Thank you.

         12                 Councilman Gennaro.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman. Thank you for your patience. I'm sorry I

         15  was late.

         16                 Anthony, like I was saying, when New

         17  York City ultimately goes the way we all know it

         18  will go, you will be sort of kind of the Jonny

         19  Appleseed of solar in New York City, so I just want

         20  to let you know that that's recognized and

         21  appreciated. And earlier this year, I guess late

         22  last year, earlier this year, we passed the

         23  distributed generation bill calling on the City to

         24  make an assessment of its own high-power use

         25  facilities, it's a law that requires the City to
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          2  make an assessment of its high-power using

          3  facilities to see whether or not they would be

          4  suitable for clean distributed generation on-site.

          5  And of course, we wanted to push to have solar as

          6  part of that bill, and the Administration didn't

          7  want to do that. And, so, where the bill was written

          8  it was essential stand-alone gas units. But then I

          9  heard the Mayor make a pronouncement recently

         10  regarding solar, with great fanfare, and how does

         11  that bode, you think, towards us getting the City

         12  to, you know, change this bill and update it so that

         13  the City will have to consider solar when it's

         14  making these assessments for clean distributed

         15  energy?

         16                 And I'm not even sure like what the

         17  Mayor announced, some contract or whatever, so what

         18  did the Mayor actually do, and how does it bear on

         19  where we want to take the City?

         20                 MR. PEREIRA: Well, thanks for your

         21  kind words, sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         23                 MR. PEREIRA: Yes, well, what the

         24  Mayor announced is an RFP that will ask for two

         25  megawatts to be installed --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Just one second.

          3  Sorry.

          4                 MR. PEREIRA: The Mayor's announcement

          5  is that he's going to have an RFP for solar, up to

          6  two megawatts of solar systems on City-owned

          7  properties. The Mayor's people are like, the RFP

          8  probably won't come out until the fall, and, you

          9  know, maybe you'll get billed next year some time,

         10  maybe not. And they still, all the barriers of Con

         11  Edison and interconnection, and so on, all exist, so

         12  it will be interesting how they kind of react to the

         13  City's plan. But overall the RFP is asking for

         14  third-party owners to come in and have the systems

         15  installed on buildings. Okay, the largest company

         16  that does this in America is called --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Third-party

         18  owners? I just want you to explain that, for the

         19  benefit of the people who may not understand that,

         20  like me.

         21                 MR. PEREIRA: Okay. Power purchase

         22  agreements is what they're called. So, what happens,

         23  I own Home Depot, I say, hey, I want a solar system.

         24  It's too expensive for me, capital up-front cost.

         25  So, a third-party power purchase agreement company
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          2  will come in and own the system, put a meter on it,

          3  come to an agreement on the price per kilowatt hour.

          4  That third-party company, because of for-profit can

          5  take tax credits available through the federal and

          6  State governments and can also trade the carbon

          7  credits that are made when you make a kilowatt hour,

          8  and in New York State they're not really high prices

          9  for carbon credits right now.

         10                 But you know, the third-party

         11  companies come in, they put a meter in and they

         12  charge the customer, in this case the City of New

         13  York per kilowatt hour. They have to compete against

         14  the other providing power company, which in the case

         15  of City-owned buildings is the New York Power

         16  Authority, which has one of the lowest rates in the

         17  region. So, you know, speaking to people from Sun

         18  Edison, which is the largest power purchase

         19  agreement company in the United States, and they

         20  said, you know, with prevailing wage requirements

         21  for City-owned properties, which everybody is in

         22  favor of, and the low rate at New York Power

         23  Authority, they just don't even see if they would

         24  bid on it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.
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          2  Because the third-party provider, this is only going

          3  to be attractive to a third-party provider if it

          4  makes economic sense for them to do so.

          5                 MR. PEREIRA: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: They've got to

          7  build this thing, they've got to do prevailing wage,

          8  they'll be competing against the New York Power

          9  Authority, in terms of rates, and they're going to

         10  get out their pencils and calculators.

         11                 MR. PEREIRA: Right. Beyond that, is

         12  it one building, is it 50 buildings. You know, a

         13  crane cost $5,000 to put on the street, you know, if

         14  you're lucky, and it needs to be really well thought

         15  out.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, what's the

         17  sense?

         18                 MR. PEREIRA:  I mean, there's an

         19  opportunity to think it out now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Is the sense

         21  that, is this then considered a real proposal?  Or

         22  is it something that they think is going to happen,

         23  that they wish is going to happen? Is it a stunt?

         24                 MR. PEREIRA: Well, they're calling it

         25  a pilot. You know, pilot for a proven technology?
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          2  Fifty years ago solar power was developed for the

          3  space program. It was decided to be the powering

          4  source of our space program. All our satellites,

          5  which are critical to life and communication on this

          6  planet.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          8                 MR. PEREIRA: It's reliable.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We had our bill

         10  that said the City should make an assessment of

         11  these buildings for clean, on-site generation, you

         12  know, solar, if they could do that, and it would be

         13  the City that would, I guess the only apparatus that

         14  would install it or whatever, that would make more

         15  sense.

         16                 MR. PEREIRA: I think it would be. You

         17  know, it's a missed opportunity. I thought it was a

         18  great opportunity.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, when is that

         20  RFP supposed to be on the street? Like in the fall

         21  some time?

         22                 MR. PEREIRA: Fall, something like

         23  that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, I just

         25  want to -- I know it's a pleasure for Dan and the
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          2  rest of the staff to work with you. I certainly want

          3  to salute your efforts, and thank you for being

          4  Johnny Appleseed. We certainly need people like that

          5  to make things go. Thank you.

          6                 MR. PEREIRA: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, so with no

          8  further witnesses for this segment of the hearing,

          9  the hearing will stand in recess until 1:00, at

         10  which time we will take up topic number two, which

         11  will be the proposed Broadwater Energy Facility. So,

         12  the Committee will stand in recess until 1:00.

         13                 Okay, this is Councilman Gennaro. I'm

         14  back. I just want to do a little housekeeping here.

         15  I just want to correct the record. The hearing on

         16  Consumer Affairs is closed. The hearing of the

         17  Committee on Environmental Protection stands in

         18  recess, and only the Committee on Environmental

         19  Protection is what we'll reconvene at 1:00. So,

         20  Environmental Protection is in recess, and Consumer

         21  Affairs is closed, adjourned.

         22                 (Recessed at 12:45 p.m. Environmental

         23  Protection resumed at 1:00 p.m.)

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome. Good

         25  afternoon. My name is Council Member Jim Gennaro,
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          2  Chairman of the Committee on Environmental

          3  Protection. And thank you for coming to part two of

          4  today's hearing. Earlier we were hearing a different

          5  topic. Topic we're going to be hearing a

          6  preconsidered resolution in support of the

          7  Broadwater Energy Facility, and we're joined by

          8  Council Member Eugene and Council Member Ignizio.

          9  It's a pleasure to have both of you, both members of

         10  the Committee. Staff to the Committee is my Chief of

         11  Staff, Peter Washburn, to my left. So, let us begin.

         12                 This afternoon we are here to hear

         13  testimony on a proposed City Council resolution that

         14  will be introduced in the Council tomorrow, that

         15  supports the proposed Broadwater Energy Project, a

         16  floating liquified natural gas storage and

         17  regassification facility, located in the New York

         18  State waters off Long Island Sound. The Resolution

         19  also urges the appropriate State and Federal

         20  agencies to provide a favorable review of the

         21  project, in light of the critical role it will play

         22  in ensuring reliable, affordable and clean power for

         23  New Yorkers.

         24                 I will not go into details of the

         25  Resolution now, because we have a number of
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          2  witnesses who wish to speak on this matter.

          3                 However, I will say that the proposed

          4  Broadwater Project enjoys, to my mind, fairly

          5  widespread support from New York City-based

          6  organizations, including the New York City

          7  Partnership, the New York Building Congress, the New

          8  York Energy Consumers Council, the Real Estate Board

          9  of New York, the Rent Stabilization Association,

         10  Consumer Power advocates, the Business Council of

         11  New York State and the Association of Community

         12  Organizations for Reform Now, known as ACORN, some

         13  of whom are here with us today.

         14                 And significantly, the City of New

         15  York has supported the proposed Broadwater Project

         16  stating in a January 23rd, 2007 letter to the

         17  federal energy regulatory commission that the

         18  project provides a "unique opportunity to make the

         19  City a more secure and competitive place to live and

         20  do business." And calling Broadwater "a critical

         21  project to ensure energy diversity, reliability and

         22  affordability for years to come."

         23                 However, we are here today because we

         24  want to hear from you about what you think about

         25  this proposed City Council resolution supporting the
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          2  proposed Broadwater Energy Project, and urging the

          3  appropriate State and Federal agencies to provide a

          4  favorable review. That is the thrust of what the

          5  resolution is, and we're certainly very interested

          6  in what everyone here has to say. And to the extent

          7  that, you know, there are some people here who may

          8  be generally in favor of the project, generally

          9  opposed to the project, but I'd like to focus on the

         10  resolution because that's what we're here to hear,

         11  you know, is there something in the resolution that

         12  we shouldn't be saying, something in the resolution

         13  that you don't think is accurate. So, this is a

         14  legislative hearing to the extent people can focus

         15  on the resolution and what it says, that would be a

         16  great use of everyone's time.

         17                 We also have the Policy Analyst of

         18  the Environmental Protection Committee Dan Avery,

         19  who has joined us, and was critical in putting

         20  together the briefing materials for today's hearing.

         21                 We have a number of witnesses who

         22  wish to testify. Anyone wishing to present testimony

         23  before the Committee today should see the

         24  Sergeant-At-Arms, that would be Nick, and he can get

         25  you all set up.
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          2                 So, with that said, we'd like to call

          3  the first witness, and the first witness, John

          4  Hritcko. I hope I'm saying that correctly. Senior

          5  Vice President of Broadwater Energy.

          6                 John, pleasure to have you with us

          7  today. As I call up each witness, we have kind of an

          8  on-deck circle or whatever, so John is on and the

          9  witness after John will be Bertha Lewis of ACORN.

         10                 MR. HRITCKO: Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, John.

         12  You have a statement?

         13                 MR. HRITCKO: I have a prepared

         14  statement.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, great.

         16                 MR. HRITCKO: It's being distributed.

         17  Would you like for me to present that?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It's your time,

         19  whatever you think would be the best use of

         20  everyone's time here. I mean, we're talking about

         21  the resolution, so whatever you wish to do.

         22                 MR. HRITCKO: Okay. Well, in the

         23  interest of time, then I believe that the resolution

         24  itself was quite accurate in the statement that it

         25  makes in this preamble and the discussion of the
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          2  Broadwater Project. I might highlight the fact that

          3  Broadwater is a significant new energy

          4  infrastructure project for the State of New York

          5  that would bring a very large supply of natural gas

          6  to this region.

          7                 We all know, and it's recognized that

          8  New York State is using more and more natural gas,

          9  primarily as a fuel for power generation. This trend

         10  is going to continue into the future, it's very

         11  difficult to bring in more natural gas supplies into

         12  this region because of the densely populated area,

         13  the difficulty in siting infrastructure. Also the

         14  fact that we here in North America, we have a finite

         15  supply of --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Excuse me. Nick,

         17  if you could just close the door? We have noise from

         18  the hallway.

         19                 I apologize for that.

         20                 MR. HRITCKO: No problem.

         21                 We have a finite supply of natural

         22  gas, and we need to supplement that supply with

         23  imports of liquified natural gas, and I'll point out

         24  to folks that liquified natural gas is nothing more

         25  than the natural gas that we currently use today in

                                                            126

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  our homes, in our businesses, it's cooled to a very

          3  cold temperature so it can be transported over long

          4  distances economically.

          5                 It's a product that's been delivered

          6  throughout the world for over 50 years. It's been

          7  delivered to the United States on and off but we're

          8  increasing our importations of LNG right now because

          9  of the need for additional gas supply.

         10                 What it does, it will serve as the

         11  ability to bring down the price of natural gas,

         12  first and foremost, because we're talking about a

         13  large volume of gas, 25 to 30 percent more natural

         14  gas than we currently use in this area. So, the

         15  price of natural gas, which the New York City area

         16  pays the highest prices in the lower 48, would be

         17  brought down, also the fluctuation of the price of

         18  gas would also be reduced.

         19                 In addition, one of the benefits of

         20  having Broadwater would be that we are supplied with

         21  our electricity with many older, less sufficient

         22  power generation projects which need to be changed

         23  out. Repowering has been the key word on that. In

         24  order to repower, we need more supply of natural

         25  gas, a diversified supply and a reliable supply
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          2  which Broadwater would provide. This would be a

          3  predicate to being able to repower the older, less

          4  sufficient power plants to use more cleaner burning

          5  natural gas.

          6                 With the repowering, with the

          7  cleaning of the emissions from these power plants,

          8  you would also have cleaner air, and I don't need to

          9  emphasize that air quality in this region,

         10  particularly on days like today, we have pollutants

         11  in the air, people who suffer from asthma and other

         12  regulatory problems are particularly at risk. Use of

         13  natural gas, particularly natural gas that could be

         14  supplied from Broadwater to these powerplants would

         15  definitely be of assistance.

         16                 As we've gone through the process,

         17  the regulatory review process, both at the federal

         18  and the State level, there has been a lot of detail

         19  work, a lot of good work done on the facts of the

         20  project itself, what it would do, how it would

         21  impact the environment, how it would impact the

         22  region, the benefits it would have to the region.

         23                 As we've gone along, as you have

         24  pointed out in your initial comments, received

         25  tremendous support from various groups, including
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          2  ACORN, New York Energy Consumers Council, Real

          3  Estate Board of New York, Rent Stabilization

          4  Association, organized labors and others.

          5                 I have here today, that I'll leave

          6  with the Committee, a booklet listing many of the

          7  supporters that we have, and also their letters that

          8  state their support for the project and the need for

          9  the project in the area so that you would have a

         10  record of those folks who have actually stepped

         11  forward and said that they support the project.

         12                 In closing, I would just like to take

         13  the opportunity to thank the City once again for a

         14  chance to appear before you. You've previously

         15  demonstrated your understanding of the looming

         16  energy crisis and the important role of natural gas

         17  in achieving cleaner, plentiful, more affordable

         18  energy for New Yorkers.

         19                 It takes real leadership to stand up

         20  and support specific solutions as the New York City

         21  Council has done in the past to support Broadwater,

         22  and I ask that you continue in this laudable role in

         23  improving this resolution in support of the

         24  Broadwater Energy Project.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. John,

          3  can you just give us the pronunciation? How do you

          4  pronounce your last name?

          5                 MR. HRITCKO: It's pronounced

          6  Hor-it-sko. You did very wells.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Hor-it-sko,

          8  okay. John.

          9                 MR. HRITCKO: John is fine.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And I just

         11  wanted to know that. We're joined by Council Member

         12  Melissa Mark-Viverito, and Council Member Oliver

         13  Koppell, both valued members of this Committee. I

         14  just have some questions.

         15                 The people who don't follow energy

         16  and how it works, up until now there have been

         17  land-based facilities, right? There have been

         18  land-based facilities, but you indicated it's

         19  difficult to get these sited now. Where is the

         20  closest land-based sited LNG facilities?  Where are

         21  they around here?

         22                 MR. HRITCKO: Historically there have

         23  been four land-based facilities. The closest to New

         24  York being one in Boston Harbor that's been

         25  operating since the mid-1970s. There is one in Cove
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          2  Point, Maryland, just south of Washington, D.C.

          3  Another one in Savannah, Georgia, and a fourth one

          4  in Lake Charles, Louisiana. And then recently there

          5  was a fifth LNG important facility opened, Off Shore

          6  Louisiana. It's an off-shore import facility, and

          7  it's currently up and there are at least five or six

          8  others that are pending either approval or

          9  construction at this point in time, most of which

         10  are on-shore.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, the five or

         12  six that are proposed are land-based?

         13                 MR. HRITCKO: Predominantly land-based

         14  in the Gulf of Mexico region. It's interesting to

         15  note that the ones that are off shore are being

         16  proposed in the northeast. There is two projects off

         17  shore Massachusetts that have been approved by the

         18  regulatory process, and currently under

         19  construction. And they are off shore. And the reason

         20  we're moving off shore for these facilities, is as

         21  you point out, when you're in a densely-populated

         22  area, like the Northeast, it's much more difficult

         23  for facilities like these to be accepted, to be

         24  sited in an area. Now, that's not to say that these

         25  facilities are dangerous or can't be sited because
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          2  they've been operating safely and securely for over

          3  50 years in parts of the world like Japan. In Tokyo

          4  Harbor, where you have some of the most densely

          5  populated areas of the world where you also have a

          6  high degree of seismic activity of other activities.

          7  And as I said before, these have been safely and

          8  effectively operating for many, many years. But it's

          9  just the acceptance of this. So, we tend to be

         10  looking more for off-shore facilities in the

         11  Northeast, rather than on-shore facilities like

         12  they're currently proposing in the Southwest.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         14                 And if you could, I know you're in

         15  the regulatory process here. Could you outline the

         16  various State and federal reviews and permits that

         17  the project would still need to go forward? Like

         18  where are we in the whole sort of regulatory journey

         19  from the beginning of the project to --

         20                 MR. HRITCKO: We are in the, what I

         21  guess I can analogize it to a football game, we're

         22  in the closing minutes of the fourth quarter of the

         23  regulatory process, from the federal review and even

         24  coming up on the State review. There's an extensive

         25  number of permits, both federal and state that are
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          2  required for siting a facility and operating a

          3  facility, it's led by the federal government with

          4  the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. There are

          5  numerous other agencies, such as the Department of

          6  Homeland Security, US Coast Guard, who analyzed the

          7  safety and the security of the facility. There is

          8  EPA, there is Fish and Wildlife, there is a Corps of

          9  Engineers on the federal level. On the State level

         10  we're dealing with the Department of State who are

         11  looking at the Coastal Zone Management policies and

         12  practices in making a determination as to whether

         13  Broadwater would fit consistently with these coastal

         14  practices of New York State, as well as the

         15  Department of Environmental Conservation. And for

         16  Air and Clean Water Permits and also for the Office

         17  of General Services for right-of-way for the

         18  facility.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let's talk about

         20  the Environmental Review specifically. There is a

         21  final environmental review that is due? What's the

         22  timetable for the final environmental review?

         23                 MR. HRITCKO: The FERC issued a --

         24  just to put it in perspective, we filed with the

         25  Federal Energy Regulatory Commission in January of
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          2  2006 for a permit or approval of the project. In

          3  November of last year we received what is called

          4  Draft Environmental Impact Statement, and that Draft

          5  Environmental Impact Statement discussed all the

          6  various aspects of the project, including safety and

          7  security and environmental impacts.

          8                 What we're anticipating now is there

          9  is another series of public meetings held in Long

         10  Island and Connecticut to obtain input from the

         11  public.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The draft came

         13  out so now there is all this public review, public

         14  comment.

         15                 MR. HRITCKO: And we're waiting right

         16  now for the final environmental impact statement to

         17  be issued, which while we don't know a specific

         18  date, there hasn't been a date set, we would think

         19  it's probably some time late the fourth quarter,

         20  third quarter of this year, and then shortly

         21  thereafter, we would think some time around October,

         22  let's say nominally, we would have an order out of

         23  the federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

         24                 Now, in conjunction with that, we

         25  would be looking for several of the State permits as
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          2  well that are currently being processed in the

          3  projects under review with the State agencies,

          4  including DOS and DEP.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: DOS?

          6                 MR. HRITCKO: Department of State.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, okay.

          8                 MR. HRITCKO: For the coastal zone.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm thinking of

         10  our DOS in the City of New York. Sanitation. You're

         11  getting a little far afield there. You know, that's

         12  why they wanted that pontoon garbage truck or

         13  whatever. I was wondering, I saw that in the budget,

         14  didn't understand it, now I know.

         15                 MR. HRITCKO: Followed by natural gas.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. Here

         17  here.

         18                 So, on the State level, tell me about

         19  the State regulatory process. I know that I'm told

         20  that the Governor is going to opine on this or

         21  whatever. What's your understanding of the State

         22  process from the Governor on down and when we would

         23  have some expectation that he would make a

         24  pronouncement on it.

         25                 MR. HRITCKO: Well, the Governor has
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          2  publicly stated, and we don't know any more than

          3  what the Governor has publicly stated, we have not

          4  met directly with him about the project.

          5                 He has said that he recognizes that

          6  it's in the extensive regulatory review process and

          7  that it would be inappropriate for him to make a

          8  comment before the regulatory review process is

          9  final. So, we would anticipate that shortly after

         10  FERC issues their decision on the facility, that he

         11  would probably issue his opinion, in terms of

         12  whether or not the facility would be suitable for

         13  New York.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Are you talking

         15  to people in the Governor's Office?

         16                 MR. HRITCKO: We talk to people in the

         17  Governor's Office, Department of State, the

         18  Department of Environmental Conservation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Have you spoken

         20  with Judith Anck of the Governor's Office?

         21                 MR. HRITCKO: We have spoken with her

         22  indirectly and we're trying to set up another

         23  meeting to discuss the matter with her.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         25                 Now, it's been said, or I think the
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          2  Broadwater folks have made a calculation that New

          3  York City households will save about $300 per

          4  household in energy costs or whatever. I just want

          5  to see if we can probe that a little bit.

          6                 What is that number?

          7                 MR. HRITCKO: Well, in the application

          8  itself for Broadwater, we have to make a showing

          9  that the project is in fact needed in the region.

         10  And when we did our economic analysis, we determined

         11  that the region itself, over the course of the

         12  30-year life of the project that the region -- which

         13  includes New York City, Long Island and Western

         14  Connecticut, would save approximately $10 billion

         15  over that 30-year life. When you break that down,

         16  that amounts to about $680 million a year. Well, we

         17  have further asked, well, what does that mean to the

         18  individual home-owner, people who own homes who are

         19  using electricity, natural gas, maybe both, what

         20  sort of savings is that? And we've determined that

         21  the average home-owner would save both direct and

         22  indirect costs, somewhere between three- to

         23  four-hundred dollars per year in their energy cost.

         24                 Now, that would be for people who

         25  both have natural gas and electricity in their
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          2  homes, but also for people who don't have natural

          3  gas in their homes. Because most people have

          4  electricity. And as I said before, the majority of

          5  this gas would actually be used as a fuel for

          6  generating electricity.

          7                 So, even if you don't have natural

          8  gas in your home, you'd be saving, the cost of

          9  generating that electricity would go down as a

         10  result of having Broadwater gas in the region.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, if we can

         12  just talk a little bit about, certainly there is --

         13  I'm originally from Long Island, I follow things, I

         14  read Newsday, I try to see the back and forth on

         15  this issue, there is a pretty sizeable, what we call

         16  in this business "pushback" on this, and certainly

         17  people are concerned about the environment, they're

         18  concerned about safety, they're concerned about

         19  operational issues, and which of those issues is

         20  FERC, through their Environmental Impact Study

         21  process, focusing on? What are the issues out there?

         22                 MR. HRITCKO: They focus on the full

         23  panoply. They go into detailed review from an

         24  environmental perspective, both air and water, what

         25  it means to the fish and plant life in the sound.
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          2  What it means to the water quality. But also they go

          3  into safety and security. They go into socioeconomic

          4  issues about what are people currently using right

          5  now to power their homes and what are we using to

          6  generate electricity, what's the need for this? And

          7  also an extensive review of what are the

          8  alternatives. What can we do, rather than

          9  Broadwater, to meet our energy requirements, and we

         10  put in, I might add, in our application, an

         11  extensive review of various potential projects that

         12  would also deliver energy into the region, and the

         13  interesting thing about the Draft Environmental

         14  Impact Statement was that it found that Broadwater

         15  was the least impactful of all the alternatives that

         16  they looked at, and that includes windmills --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Who is "they?"

         18                 MR. HRITCKO: The FERC, the Federal

         19  Engineering Regulatory Commission.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         21                 MR. HRITCKO: And the Draft

         22  Environmental Impact Statement. They found that

         23  Broadwater was the least impactful of all the

         24  alternatives they looked at for serving the energy

         25  requirements and bringing the energy that Broadwater
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          2  would bring into this region.

          3                 They also concluded through the Coast

          4  Guard report that the facility would be safe and

          5  secure if we follow the Coast Guard procedures that

          6  they had recommended and outlined in their study.

          7                 I would point out that those

          8  procedures and recommendations are all standard

          9  operating procedures and followed in every one of

         10  the terminals here in the United States and most of

         11  them throughout the world, including the ones in

         12  Boston and outside of Washington and in Louisiana.

         13  So, nothing new here, in terms of safety and

         14  security.

         15                 So, we had a very positive review of

         16  the project from their perspective. What it really

         17  boils down to right now, and the issue that's facing

         18  us, is now that we've gone through the factual

         19  issues of environment safety and security and

         20  economics of the facility, whether it's needed or

         21  not, it really comes down to, as you say, an issue

         22  of, quite frankly, acceptance in the community.

         23                 This is a major energy infrastructure

         24  project. And like any infrastructure project, it has

         25  broad benefits to a lot of people in the region, and
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          2  the impacts are quite frankly very localized. But

          3  the impacts you have to weigh in the process, you

          4  have to weigh the benefits of the project versus the

          5  impacts, and we find that the benefits far outweigh

          6  the impacts. And the impacts, quite, frankly, get

          7  down to the fact that there would be a vessel-like

          8  facility sitting on the horizon nine miles from the

          9  nearest shore line, it would look like a ship that

         10  isn't there today, once Broadwater is built, but the

         11  upside of having this amount of gas to reduce the

         12  price of gas, to be able to lead to repower and to

         13  cleaner air, to supporting the economics of the

         14  region, the more stability and reliability in our

         15  utility system throughout the entire region far

         16  outweigh the negative impact of seeing something on

         17  the horizon off the shore of east end of Long

         18  Island.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         20                 With regard to the EIS. Does EIS

         21  specifically take in New York City concerns in terms

         22  of what our sort of power needs -- or to what extent

         23  does the five boroughs of New York City sort of

         24  factor into the environmental review?

         25                 MR. HRITCKO: When the analysis of the
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          2  EIS, particularly the draft was issued, they talk

          3  about the need for natural gas in the region,

          4  including New York City area, and the difficulty in

          5  supplying the New York City area. And the fact that

          6  New York City is at the end of long haul pipelines

          7  that extend from the Gulf Coast of the United States

          8  and Western Canada here to New York City, and we're

          9  sitting at the end of those long pipelines.

         10                 And when we have situations like

         11  Hurricane Katrina and Rita, which damage the

         12  production capability down in those areas, that it

         13  impacts directly the New York City area, and having

         14  a facility like Broadwater that would deliver gas

         15  directly to the New York City market, would

         16  diversify the supply, make it more secure, and

         17  reduce the price and keep the price from

         18  skyrocketing if something happens thousands of miles

         19  away from New York City.

         20                 So, yes, in fact, they focused

         21  heavily on the needs of New York.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         23                 We're joined by Council Member

         24  Domenic Recchia, from Brooklyn. Thank you, Domenic.

         25                 And, so, you indicated that there
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          2  would be a lot of benefits from this and the impacts

          3  would be local. I guess that's why a lot of support

          4  for the project in New York City and less so where

          5  they have to bear the impacts.

          6                 When I look at the map and I see

          7  where the proposed project would be situated, you've

          8  got the project and then there's this long connector

          9  that gets you into the pipeline there, and kind of

         10  begs the question of, well, why is the thing so far

         11  away from, you know, how long is it connecting?

         12                 MR. HRITCKO: Twenty-two miles.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Twenty-two miles

         14  and hooks into what?

         15                 MR. HRITCKO: The Iroquois Pipeline.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The Iroquois.

         17  I'm looking at the thing, I'm looking at it with my

         18  wife and she's like, well, how come there's this

         19  whole big long segment? How come it has to be way

         20  out there? If this thing was okay, why couldn't we

         21  build it like close to the Iroquois? You know,

         22  you've got to build the whole thing, and it just

         23  seems like, well, what's up with this thing that

         24  it's got to be so far away? You know, why is it here

         25  and not closer? That's just kind of like a kitchen
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          2  table observation. I'm not sitting at a kitchen

          3  table, but tell me why it has to be so far away.

          4                 MR. HRITCKO: You hit on a very

          5  important point, and something we went through great

          6  amounts of detail and preparatory work in locating

          7  the site that we chose.

          8                 Ideally we would have liked to have

          9  put Broadwater facility right on top of that

         10  pipeline so we wouldn't have to have this pipeline

         11  feed directly into the --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But there was a

         13  problem, and what was that?

         14                 MR. HRITCKO: When you look at all of

         15  the various issues of siting a facility like this in

         16  Long Island Sound, there are other users of the

         17  facility. There are places in those locations where

         18  this thing would sit in the bottom of the Sound. You

         19  have to have the appropriate soil conditions. You

         20  also have fishing interests, you have the Cross

         21  Sound Ferry, you have recreational areas.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

         23                 MR. HRITCKO: The further west you

         24  move the more congested it becomes. As you know, the

         25  closer to the City the most activity there is.
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          2                 So, as we looked through, we had a

          3  large matrix of issues that we're looking at in

          4  terms of meeting the requirements for siting, we

          5  wanted to have the best location so that we would

          6  have the least amount of impact or be able to avoid

          7  or minimize any impacts that we would have on not

          8  only the environment and safety security, but also

          9  the people's lives who are enjoying using the Sound

         10  today. And what we found was this location near the

         11  middle of the widest part of the Sound, about 22

         12  miles east of the Iroquois pipeline, actually

         13  happened to be the location that best met all those

         14  conditions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         16                 I think that's all the questions that

         17  I have for now. I know you're going to be staying

         18  for the hearing. Right?

         19                 MR. HRITCKO: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You're going to

         21  be staying for the hearing. Because I want to

         22  certainly bring up some of the other witnesses that

         23  have a lot to say about this, as well. We certainly

         24  appreciate your being here today, and as we go

         25  forward we will continue to talk. And thank you for
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          2  staying for the duration of the hearing.

          3                 MR. HRITCKO: Okay, thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You bet.

          6                 Next witness, Bertha Lewis of ACORN.

          7  After Bertha Lewis of ACORN, we'll hear Maureen

          8  Dolan Murphy of Citizens' Campaign for the

          9  Environment. You will be the next witness. That will

         10  be the official on-deck chair. We've just

         11  established that.

         12                 Bertha, thank you for being here

         13  today.

         14                 MS. LEWIS: Thank you, Council member,

         15  for having me. We're very pleased to be here.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Bertha, will you

         17  please just state your name for the record?

         18                 MS. LEWIS: My name is Bertha Lewis,

         19  and I'm the Executive Director for New York ACORN.

         20  ACORN is an acronym that stands for the Association

         21  of Community Organizations for Reform Now. So, I'm

         22  very pleased to be here and I thank the Committee

         23  for the opportunity to testify here today. And I

         24  mean that sincerely because most of the time with

         25  these sort of projects are contemplated, my members
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          2  and folks that we represent and our constituencies

          3  are very rarely heard from. So, on behalf of the

          4  thousands of low- and moderate-income ACORN members,

          5  we want to convey our full support of Broadwater

          6  Energy's proposed liquified natural gas facility in

          7  the Long Island Sound, and we want to iterate our

          8  support of Council Member Gennaro's resolution.

          9                 New York ACORN is New York's oldest

         10  and largest community organizing group of low- and

         11  moderate-income families. Founded here in New York

         12  City in 1982, we are now over 30,000 members strong

         13  across New York City, Long Island, Westchester and

         14  Buffalo, and we continue to work to fight for

         15  justice in our communities.

         16                 So, why is this Broadwater proposal

         17  important to us? We're not on the North Shore, I

         18  don't think I have any members on the North Shore,

         19  or out in Long Island Sound, but we do have members

         20  in Bridgeport, we do have members in Nassau County

         21  and Suffolk County, and we certainly have members

         22  here in New York City, which would be impacted by

         23  Broadwater.

         24                 It's important to us because, quite

         25  simply, we need clean air. We need a safer, cleaner
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          2  burning and more efficient fuel. Our communities are

          3  the communities that suffer with the highest asthma

          4  rates and other respiratory illnesses, and if

          5  Broadwater makes our air one particle cleaner, then

          6  we say good for it and we need it.

          7                 You need to stop promoting

          8  environmental racism by siting harmful fossil fuel

          9  burning plants in low-income neighborhoods. That has

         10  been the norm.

         11                 A few weeks ago the American Lung

         12  Association released their annual State of the Air

         13  Report for 2007. The study found 101,576 adults,

         14  32,964 children, suffer from asthma in Suffolk

         15  County.

         16                 In Nassau, 92,666 adults and 28,204

         17  children suffer from this condition. As we know, the

         18  numbers are even worse in low-income neighborhoods

         19  in New York City.

         20                 And most of those cases, you can

         21  imagine what neighborhoods they were in, in Nassau

         22  and Suffolk Counties.

         23                 The bottom line is that air pollution

         24  from coal and oil-fired power plants is polluting

         25  the air that our members and their children breathe,
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          2  and our members disproportionately suffer from

          3  asthma caused by air pollution and other respiratory

          4  ailments.

          5                 More than that, the fact that

          6  Broadwater will help New York City and all Long

          7  Island families struggling to get by, as the Long

          8  Island Business News notes, and they wrote in an

          9  editorial on April 13th, "After affordable housing,

         10  the cost of energy is the number one threat to the

         11  future economic well-being of Long Island."

         12                 Low-income families in New York City

         13  and on Long Island, especially those of color, are

         14  burdened with some of the highest utility costs in

         15  the nation. In addition, many families live in homes

         16  that are not energy efficient, further driving up

         17  their monthly bills, while contributing not just

         18  emissions, to the local environment.

         19                 This is the sentiment we hear every

         20  day from members of our Long Island and New York

         21  City Chapters who are struggling to get by. For

         22  low-income families Broadwater could mean a $300

         23  annual reduction in utility bills through at least

         24  2025.

         25                 The savings is more than the pre-tax
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          2  earnings of our members, and what they make during a

          3  40-hour work week, when they make minimum wage, most

          4  of our members do.

          5                 We've heard many people railing

          6  against this facility because it will bring too many

          7  ships to the Sound, it would be unsightly in the

          8  North Shore of Long Island and that it could be a

          9  terrorist target. One, the facts are that there are

         10  already thousands of ships that go through the Sound

         11  each year, and this project will add only about two

         12  to three ships per week. A tiny increase in the

         13  overall commercial boat traffic that may in fact be

         14  partially offset by the reduction in oil use and the

         15  consequent reduction in oil delivery.

         16                 Two, from the shore of either Long

         17  Island or Connecticut, the Broadwater facility will

         18  be barely bigger than a thumbnail on the horizon,

         19  and quite frankly, that inconvenience doesn't even

         20  begin to compare with the overwhelming respiratory

         21  and asthma rates in our communities, and the high

         22  utility bills that our members face.

         23                 Lastly, even if as a worst case

         24  scenario this were to become a terrorist target, we

         25  would much rather have that target be nine miles

                                                            150

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  off-shore than in the middle of our community.

          3                 The maximum range that it could

          4  possibly effect would be a 1.5 mile radius. Still

          5  far away from many homes, schools and businesses.

          6                 For years our communities have

          7  suffered the burden of environmental racism. If

          8  there were benefits to be gained in facilities, our

          9  communities never got them and they were ignored.

         10                 Here we have an opportunity to take

         11  maybe a small step in the right direction, a step

         12  that will positively affect our communities of New

         13  York and on Long Island for years to come.

         14                 We must take energy issues seriously.

         15  We commend the City of New York, Council Member

         16  Gennaro and Mayor Bloomberg for taking action on

         17  this issue. We need as many approaches to generating

         18  clean energy and cutting down energy costs, as well

         19  as weaning ourselves off of oil. Either we believe

         20  we are in a crisis or we don't. Either we are all

         21  willing to share the burden of solving this crisis

         22  or we're not.

         23                 On behalf of ACORN members throughout

         24  this region, we hope that the City Council will move

         25  quickly to pass this resolution. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Ms.

          3  Lewis. I appreciate you being here today. I know

          4  that you have a real time commitment also. I know

          5  it's not easy for you to make the time to be here,

          6  but I believe your testimony has a profound impact

          7  and it made a real difference, and, so, I'm happy

          8  that you were able to come here personally and

          9  deliver it.

         10                 It's so comprehensive, that it covers

         11  the areas that I was going to ask. I have some

         12  questions written, but your statement answered the

         13  questions that I had.

         14                 So, Bertha, thank you so much for

         15  being here. We give you our best, and please give

         16  all your membership our very best.

         17                 MS. LEWIS: Thank you. We applaud you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, thank you.

         19                 A lot of things going on in the

         20  Council right now. What we're going to do is I have

         21  to just run downstairs for a minute, cast my vote,

         22  come back upstairs. I'm not even going to recess the

         23  hearing. If you'll just hang on a second, nobody

         24  move. I've got to go to 14, I'll be right back.

         25  Don't go anywhere because I want to hear every word
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          2  you say, okay? We'll recess for two minutes.

          3                 (Recess taken.)

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Multiple

          5  committees meeting at the same time, and it can't be

          6  avoided. Maureen Dolan Murphy, thank you for being

          7  here, from Citizens Campaign for the Environment.

          8  State your name for the record and begin your

          9  testimony.

         10                 MS. DOLAN MURPHY: Sure. Thank you.

         11  I'm Maureen Dolan Murphy, Citizens Campaign for the

         12  Environment.

         13                 Citizens Campaign for the Environment

         14  is an 80,000 member not-for-profit nonpartisan

         15  advocacy organization, working for the protection of

         16  public health and the natural environment on behalf

         17  of its members in both New York and Connecticut.

         18                 I'm here today to testify on the

         19  Broadwater Resolution. CCE understands the need for

         20  energy throughout the State, and we have supported

         21  upgrades to our energy infrastructure, such as the

         22  Cross Island Cable and the Neptune Cable.

         23                 We are not a group that opposes

         24  energy infrastructure. However, this issue is not

         25  about energy. This issue is about protecting a
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          2  natural resource. This issue is about protecting our

          3  maritime culture. This issue is about protecting an

          4  economic investment for our region.

          5                 Today we are asking New York City to

          6  not support the degradation of Long Island Sound, an

          7  estuary of national significance. To protect the

          8  Sound, an economic driver to our region, providing

          9  $8 billion a year to our local economy. Broadwater

         10  will impact our local fisheries, including our

         11  commercial fishing industry, our recreational

         12  fishing industry, our tourism industry, and our

         13  charter boat industry.

         14                 We do not need to sacrifice the Long

         15  Island Sound to accommodate Shell Oil. The New York

         16  City Plan does not advocate for destroying our

         17  estuaries, destroying our heritage, or destroying

         18  our way of life.

         19                 We've read the New York City Plan.

         20  The plan is a blueprint for New York City to be on

         21  the cutting edge of green technology, leading the

         22  way in innovation, and setting a new standard for

         23  protecting our environment.

         24                 Degrading the Long Island Sound to

         25  achieve that standard is counterproductive and
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          2  non-sensical. Alternatives to Broadwater have not

          3  been looked at.

          4                 We are calling for a full evaluation

          5  of all alternatives, including alternative sites and

          6  alternative technology. Massachusetts was able to

          7  use less intrusive technology while still being able

          8  to provide the region with a billion cubic feet of

          9  natural gas a day. We can do that too.

         10                 The Patel Report (phonetic), which

         11  was conducted by New York State, looked at

         12  alternative locations and alternative technology.

         13  The preliminary conclusions show that we can use

         14  alternative locations and we can use alternative

         15  technology.

         16                 We are asking you here today to not

         17  commit to one option, when you have not looked at

         18  all the options available. If Honda were to come

         19  before you and say that their car was the best car,

         20  would you go out and buy that car? Would you go out

         21  and research the other options you have? That's what

         22  we're asking you to do today.

         23                 In December of 2005, this Council

         24  passed a resolution calling for a fair, full review

         25  of the Broadwater Project. That review is still
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          2  underway.

          3                 The Federal Energy Regulatory

          4  Commission released their Draft Environmental Impact

          5  Statement, and many State and Federal Agencies,

          6  including the USEPA, the New York State Department

          7  of Environmental Conservation, NOAH, the US

          8  Department of Interior submitted comments that

          9  outlined the many, many deficiencies in the draft. A

         10  Final Environmental Impact Statement has not been

         11  released. New York State has not issued their

         12  consistency ruling, and New York State has not even

         13  issued their full alternatives analysis. CC believes

         14  the current resolution is premature.

         15                 A couple of points in the current

         16  resolution. For one, it states that the Coast Guard

         17  report states Broadwater can be operated safely and

         18  securely in the Long Island Sound. That is not what

         19  the report said. The report states that the

         20  Broadwater could be operated safely, if, and there's

         21  many ifs, if the establishment of a security zone,

         22  or a no go zone of 1.5 square miles surrounding the

         23  LNG terminal. This means that for the first time in

         24  Long Island's history, a section of the open water

         25  body would be given to a private corporation.
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          2                 If each in-coming tanker has a secure

          3  safety zone of two miles in front, one mile in back

          4  and 750 yards on each side. This zone would be

          5  marked by escort boats surrounding the tankers as

          6  they traverse the Sound.

          7                 These tankers will enter the Sound

          8  through a narrow passageway, the Race. Named for its

          9  strong currents and navigational challenges. The

         10  security zone would make it extremely difficult for

         11  other commercial and recreational boats to enter and

         12  exit the Sound as the LNG tanker and escort boats

         13  pass by.

         14                 If there are several crucial gaps

         15  addressed. Currently the Coast Guard does not have

         16  the resources, including staff or vessels, needed to

         17  supply the 24-hour seven-day-a-week security that

         18  would be necessary.

         19                 The report points to the additional

         20  number of staff boats and other equipment that would

         21  be needed if the project were to be built.

         22                 If the Coast Guard is given

         23  firefighting equipment. One of the biggest problems

         24  identified is that the existing marine firefighting

         25  capability in Long Island Sound is inadequate.
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          2                 The Coast Guards Independent Analysis

          3  shows that if there was a severe accident either at

          4  the terminal or LNG tanker, and a large amount of

          5  gas was released, a flammable vapor cloud could

          6  travel up to 4.7 miles.

          7                 This means if the tanker had an

          8  accident while traveling through the race such a

          9  cloud could impact Fishers Island, Plum Island or

         10  the North Fork of Long Island.

         11                 All of the extra security and

         12  necessary equipment needs to come at a very high

         13  cost. Who will be responsible to pay for it all? It

         14  is suggested a cost-sharing agreement be reached

         15  between Broadwater, the federal, State and local

         16  governments. Why should taxpayers subsidize a

         17  multi-billion dollar energy company? Of course, that

         18  is if the Coast Guard was given everything they

         19  needed to protect the facility, including more

         20  personnel, more boats, more firefighting equipment,

         21  more manpower, that's a lot of mores, especially in

         22  a time when funding cuts are the norm on the federal

         23  level.

         24                 The bottom line is, is that

         25  Broadwater is not worth it. Long Island's energy
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          2  needs can be met through other less intrusive, less

          3  expensive and less dangerous methods.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          6  you for the testimony. If you could submit, at your

          7  convenience, a copy of your testimony to the

          8  Committee, that would be helpful, because as I

          9  indicated you spoke particularly to the resolution

         10  in terms of the language and stuff, and so it would

         11  be helpful for us to see that.

         12                 We also want to thank you for the

         13  quick turnaround. I know you didn't have a lot of

         14  time to assimilate the resolution, and we're happy

         15  that you were able to get it and put together

         16  testimony and join us today.

         17                 Have you had any contact with New

         18  York City-based environmental groups on this issue?

         19                 MS. DOLAN MURPHY: We're working with

         20  groups all across New York City. And the

         21  Anti-Broadwater Coalition is actually comprised of

         22  over 60 groups throughout New York, and there is a

         23  list of that in the red packets.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         25                 MS. DOLAN MURPHY: I should also say
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          2  that there has been unprecedented opposition to this

          3  project. Over 50,000 folks have signed petition

          4  sheets and submitted them into the Federal Energy

          5  Regulatory Commission. Thousands of handwritten

          6  letters have gone out all over the State to elected

          7  officials, as well as to the Coast Guard and to

          8  FERC. Senator Clinton, as well as Senator Schumer,

          9  have both stood up an publicly opposed the facility.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now, usually,

         11  because we're a City Legislature, and we do

         12  business, usually, with all the environmental groups

         13  within New York City, every single environmental

         14  group in New York City was invited to come to this

         15  hearing if they chose to do so. So, we have -- I

         16  see, NYPIRG is going to testify. And the slip

         17  indicates that they're in opposition as well, but

         18  other than NYPIRG, there is no other New York City

         19  environmental groups, or none that have made

         20  themselves known to this Committee, that are --

         21                 MS. DOLAN MURPHY: With all due

         22  respect, this hearing came out of nowhere. I only

         23  found out about it yesterday at 4:00. So, I find it

         24  hard to believe that everybody knew about it well in

         25  advance.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, that's

          3  fair enough.

          4                 Okay, thank you for your testimony.

          5                 MS. DOLAN MURPHY: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Jason Babbie

          7  from NYPIRG. Jason, just bear with us.

          8                 Harry. What's your last name, Harry?

          9                 MR. BUBBINS: Bubbins.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Bubbins, okay.

         11  Of Bronx Council on Environmental Quality.

         12                 MR. BUBBINS: Yes. Thanks a lot. I'm

         13  Harry Bubbins, with Bronx Council on Environmental

         14  Quality. And, you know, I've been to Solar 1, where

         15  I heard you speak, Chairman, and I appreciate your

         16  environmental leadership in this City. And like

         17  Maureen said, we just heard about this today, so

         18  maybe, I know sometimes the Council websites are

         19  down or the e-mails don't work, and the New York

         20  League of Conservation Voters is part of the

         21  Coalition against this project.

         22                 So, my name is Harry Bubbins. I've

         23  been working in the South Bronx for over ten years

         24  on environmental justice issues. We worked to stop

         25  the last medical waste incinerator in the South
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          2  Bronx, as well as four power plants that Governor

          3  Pataki put in the South Bronx, the ten General

          4  Electric gas-powered power plants in Brooklyn,

          5  Queens and four in the South Bronx. So, we have a

          6  long history of working against asthma in inner-City

          7  communities.

          8                 And very few things have I seen so

          9  misguided as to support this kind of resolution. As

         10  a former member of a community board in the Bronx,

         11  we indicated that site visits would be necessary for

         12  any resolutions on Land Use matters, or general

         13  support. So, I would encourage the Council members

         14  on this Committee, the staff, people from other

         15  community organizations, to go to the Sound and see

         16  what the area looks like. There is a vigil right now

         17  on the Long Island Sound. A one-month long vigil.

         18  There's people camping out on the beach to draw

         19  attention to this matter right now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If I can, I'm a

         21  little confused. Your slip that you filled out

         22  indicates that you're here to testify in favor.

         23                 MR. BUBBINS: And then I wrote

         24  underneath what I'm in favor of. The environment. I

         25  didn't understand the resolution. I didn't even get
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          2  to see a copy of it before.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, okay. All

          4  right. Fine.

          5                 MR. BUBBINS: So that's why.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see. Okay,

          7  fine. Please continue.

          8                 MR. BUBBINS: I'm not in favor of it

          9  at all.

         10                 So, I think a site visit is

         11  important. Besides the fact, as Maureen indicated,

         12  that the environmental studies aren't finished yet,

         13  so how can we support that resolution.

         14                 The other thing I find very -- I

         15  wonder about the ethics of it, and perhaps the

         16  Council that's here, to have in an official City

         17  Council resolution, you listed some of those

         18  organizations that were in favor of this. To have in

         19  an official City Council resolution an organization

         20  that has received millions of dollars from this

         21  company, I mean, I don't know if that's precedented

         22  or what.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What are you

         24  referring to? I'm confused.

         25                 MR. BUBBINS: Organizations listed in

                                                            163

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  the resolution, as I saw it, that have received

          3  millions of dollars from the Broadwater

          4  conglomerate. Is that ethical? Is that appropriate?

          5  I don't know.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If you're here

          7  to challenge my ethics, you should just say that --

          8                 MR. BUBBINS: I'm not challenging your

          9  ethics, because you might not be aware of that.

         10  That's why I'm bringing it to your attention.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         12                 MR. BUBBINS: Yeah, I'm not

         13  challenging your ethics at all. I'm bringing

         14  information. That's what the hearing is about.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Of course.

         16                 MR. BUBBINS: And I appreciate the

         17  opportunity.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Of course.

         19                 MR. BUBBINS: ACORN has been paid $10

         20  million recently. There it is. It's in the

         21  newspapers and everything by Broadwater. So, you can

         22  look into that. You can look into whether they

         23  should be listed in the City Council Resolution.

         24                 Of course they can support a project.

         25  There is nothing wrong with that. But listing an
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          2  organization that was the beneficiary of millions of

          3  dollars in a City Council resolution I don't think

          4  looks good.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I have no

          6  knowledge whatsoever of any relationship or

          7  non-relationship between ACORN and Broadwater. I

          8  have no knowledge of the relationship between

          9  Broadwater and any entity that's listed in this.

         10  I'll just state that, but we'll take a look at that.

         11                 MR. BUBBINS: Sure. Look into that. I

         12  think that's what the hearings are for, and I

         13  appreciate it. Like I said, I'm not challenging you

         14  at all.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         16                 MR. BUBBINS: I just want to be clear

         17  about that.

         18                 So, those are two of my points. You

         19  asked about the resolution in particular. Site

         20  visits I think are important with any resolution,

         21  when possible. And that matter, whether that was

         22  appropriate or not, it could just be the matter of

         23  dropping that organization, I don't know.

         24                 The other points I wanted to bring

         25  up. It's Shell Corporation. Broadwater is a name.
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          2  It's a conglomerate. There has been a boycott of

          3  Shell based on Human Rights violations in Nigeria,

          4  where they trashed the environment, nine

          5  environmental activists were hung by the Nigerian

          6  Military Government.

          7                 Where does the gas come from? It

          8  comes from Iran. It comes from Algeria. And it comes

          9  from Peru. Again, these extracting processes leave

         10  cadmium, mercury, lead and a host of other wasteland

         11  effects in these communities. So, I think it's

         12  important to look at what's going on on the other

         13  end, whether or not -- I know the Council has been

         14  leading the divestment strategy in Sudan and other

         15  terrorist states, so it's important to look at this

         16  corporation as well.

         17                 The other thing, there is a misguided

         18  sense that this is going to reduce pollution. It's

         19  going to increase pollution. Gas is a fossil fuel.

         20  This is more gas. This is more pollution.

         21                 I was at a NYSERDA conference today.

         22  Here it is, you can get $100 back by turning your

         23  air conditioner in. There's a host of things that

         24  with Plan 2030, with your leadership at Solar 1 at

         25  other conferences, that we should be looking at. We
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          2  should not be supporting a $700 million project by

          3  Shell Oil in the Long Island Sound.

          4                 The other thing, how is it going to

          5  lower cost? I'm very skeptical of that. I would

          6  really, like I say, probe that. It was a really good

          7  question. Ten power plants were built in 2001 by

          8  Governor Pataki, there is no savings. It's more

          9  profits for these corporations.

         10                 And so, I just wanted to end with

         11  that. Look into what is Shell doing on the other end

         12  of things, and what is going on on this end of

         13  things.

         14                 Thanks a lot for this opportunity.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, you bet.

         16  Thank you so much for being here today. I appreciate

         17  your testimony, and we'll take a look at all the

         18  items that you brought forth. Thanks again.

         19                 Jason, come on up. Jason Babbie of

         20  NYPIRG. Jason, if you could just state your name for

         21  the record and begin your testimony.

         22                 MR. BABBIE: Thank you, Chairman.

         23                 My name is Jason Babbie. I'm Senior

         24  Environmental Policy Analyst for the New York Public

         25  Interest Research Group, NYPIRG, the nation's
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          2  largest statewide environmental consumer research

          3  and advocacy organization, with our headquarters

          4  just around the corner.

          5                 And I apologize for not having

          6  written testimony.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: No, that's quite

          8  all right.

          9                 MR. BABBIE: I'm going to start off

         10  with a presumption, if I may be so bold, and I think

         11  some of the reason for, or rationale probably behind

         12  the resolution is looking at the need and looking at

         13  natural gas and trying to get natural gas to help

         14  repower our fleets and looking at those areas.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And also, the

         16  first part of this hearing was also energy-related.

         17  And, so, let's get our energy stuff done.

         18                 MR. BABBIE: And I think there are

         19  needs to look at our infrastructure. One of the best

         20  ways that we can move about, how we can continue

         21  going forward, and we would, you know, welcome

         22  working with City Council and yourself specifically

         23  to do so.

         24                 We do oppose the resolution and in

         25  fact oppose Broadwater. And one thing I want to
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          2  point out is one of the ways of increasing supply,

          3  and in fact it was in the Journal News, the

          4  Westchester Journal News newspaper on Monday, was

          5  that they had started a process to expand the

          6  millennium pipeline, just north of here to make it

          7  three times as large, going from a ten-inch pipe to

          8  a 30-inch pipe to help increase the amount of

          9  natural gas coming into the New York metro region.

         10                 Also in that same article and I'm

         11  happy to give it to you, highlights the fact that

         12  the Algonquin Pipeline, this was going to add five

         13  miles of 42-inch pipe, which was going to increase

         14  that from 26 inches, again another way that we could

         15  be increasing natural gas into the New York metro

         16  region, that we would, you know, sort of like to be

         17  included and considered as we sort of move forward

         18  and really evaluate the need, whether it's for

         19  Broadwater or this resolution and proposal.

         20                 Maureen hit a number of really good

         21  points, I'm not going to belabor it by hitting them

         22  again, but one thing I do want to talk a little bit

         23  about is the alternatives analysis, and really the

         24  lack of quality in the Draft Environmental Impact

         25  Statement for an alternatives analysis.
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          2                 There were three alternatives also

          3  proposed in the Sound. If part of the problem what

          4  folks are thinking of is partly a precedent-setting

          5  privatization of Long Island Sound, a public good,

          6  then those aren't really good alternatives. They

          7  should be knocked out of the box to begin with.

          8                 There was one that was put on the

          9  ocean side, and they said was unfeasible, but didn't

         10  look at a change in technology, one that is being

         11  used in Massachusetts, which is less invasive, and

         12  actually could be used in that location, you know,

         13  without big cost. And, so, we would encourage those

         14  types of alternatives, and in fact we have spoken

         15  with members of Governor's staff, to talk about that

         16  very issue, and we hope that the state will include

         17  that as they move forward in reviewing the

         18  appropriateness or inappropriateness of Broadwater,

         19  and I think, yourself in particular, is cognizant of

         20  the need to do alternatives analysis and looking at

         21  things, and just because there is potentially a need

         22  for a particular commodity or a product, whether

         23  it's natural gas or electricity, that any proposal

         24  anywhere is not necessarily the right answer, and

         25  when we've seen Queens bombarded with power plant
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          2  proposals and largely unjustly, and I think that we

          3  really did, and we pushed the State very hard to

          4  take a step back and look at where other things may

          5  make more sense, and that's I think what we're

          6  asking of yourself and of the City Council today to

          7  do in response to the Broadwater proposal.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Jason, thank

          9  you. I appreciate your comments. They were

         10  thoughtful and thought-provoking, and we do

         11  appreciate them, and will sort of bear on how we go

         12  and what we do with this resolution.

         13                 Also, to the extent that you want to

         14  submit anything in writing, or talk to Peter or Dan,

         15  or whatever, of course, you have open access to

         16  those guys, as you know.

         17                 MR. BABBIE: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And, again,

         19  sorry for the late notice. One of those things, the

         20  Governor was going to be coming to my district

         21  today, and I wasn't going to be able to do this, so

         22  things just got a little botched up. But thank you,

         23  I apologize for the late notice. I appreciate you

         24  being here, Jason, as always.

         25                 MR. BABBIE: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And our final

          3  witness, David Bomke. David Bomke, Executive

          4  Director, New York Energy Consumers Council.

          5                 Am I saying that correctly, Bomke?

          6                 MR. BOMKE: You did.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          8                 MR. BOMKE: It's probably not a good

          9  example with this discussion, but Bomb and Key, so.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. I got it.

         11  Thank you for being here.

         12                 MR. BOMKE: Good afternoon.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, please

         14  state your name for the record and proceed with your

         15  testimony.

         16                 MR. BOMKE: Good afternoon, Chairman

         17  Gennaro, members of the Environmental Protection

         18  Committee, and guests. Thank you for affording me an

         19  opportunity to address this critical issue. My name

         20  is David F. Bomke, and I offer these comments in my

         21  capacity as the Executive Director of New York

         22  Energy Consumers Council, Inc., or the NYECC, based

         23  here in New York City.

         24                 The NYECC is a non-profit

         25  organization, focused on the advocacy and education
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          2  of large energy consumers in the five boroughs of

          3  New York City, and Westchester County. To our

          4  knowledge we represent more energy consumer

          5  interests than any other energy advocacy group in

          6  New York City. I am convinced that the Broadwater

          7  Project represents significant benefits for energy

          8  consumers in both New York City and Westchester

          9  County, as well as on Long Island. And in the

         10  interest of disclosure, I have not received millions

         11  of dollars, thousands of dollars, hundreds of

         12  thousands of dollars, and our name is listed in your

         13  resolution.

         14                 I see essentially three compelling

         15  reasons for our support of the Broadwater Project.

         16                 First, it promises to deliver

         17  additional energy sources to our region.

         18                 Second, increases in natural gas

         19  supply promise environmental benefits to the extent

         20  to which such increased natural gas supply reduces

         21  demand for petroleum.

         22                 Third, it represents a significant

         23  benefit to our region's security.

         24                 Let me elaborate further on each of

         25  those issues. The Broadwater Project affords us
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          2  access to natural gas supplies from locations that

          3  otherwise could not reach us. A well-proven

          4  technology already exists for refrigerating natural

          5  gas at major sources throughout the world,

          6  permitting natural gas to be shipped across the

          7  globe in liquid forms.

          8                 The Broadwater project provides the

          9  essential interface that would permit liquified

         10  natural gas, or LNG, to be received, restored to its

         11  gaseous condition and distributed in the existing

         12  natural gas distribution system at a point well

         13  beyond the majority of system constraints.

         14                 And I'll elaborate in a moment in

         15  response to some of the comments made earlier this

         16  afternoon. One of the concerns as an energy consumer

         17  of many years is getting natural gas through the

         18  pipelines from the Henry Hub, the Gulf Coast and

         19  Western Canada. The pipeline has to be big enough

         20  the entire way to get natural gas flowing in

         21  adequate supply, particularly during periods when

         22  that supply is most constrained. Cold winter months

         23  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'd just like

         25  you to go over that part again.
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          2                 MR. BOMKE: Sure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I missed that.

          4  Sorry.

          5                 MR. BOMKE: It's fine. I was talking

          6  about the advantage of LNG coming directly into New

          7  York, rather than having to go through the extensive

          8  miles of pipelines. And the pipelines, interstate

          9  pipelines, and the pipeline serving us through

         10  Canada was developed over decades. And they're very

         11  constrained. And having bought energy and worked

         12  with people buying energy in New York City and Long

         13  Island for a number of years, I know how difficult

         14  it is to get natural gas to this location, when the

         15  demands on the natural gas elsewhere in the pipeline

         16  prevent it getting here.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. Normally

         18  I save my questions for the end, but Jason was

         19  talking about the pipeline is ten inches, 30 inches,

         20  what's going on with that?

         21                 MR. BOMKE: Well, that's here at the

         22  end. He said 30 miles. We're talking about a gas

         23  coming 3,000 miles, or 2,000 miles. If you take at

         24  the end, if you take your garden hose, you go 200

         25  feet with a half-inch garden hose, and at the end
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          2  you connected that at the pail end to a five-foot

          3  wide pipe, it doesn't give you any more water

          4  because it's still got to go to the narrow

          5  constraints to get there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

          7                 MR. BOMKE: So, that's what I was

          8  talking about in terms of it's a different access

          9  for bringing gas in. And I was responding directly

         10  to Jason's comment.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         12                 MR. BOMKE: So, this benefit is itself

         13  two-fold. At present, both are first increased

         14  supplies represent increased energy reliability for

         15  our region. At present, both are winter heating

         16  requirements, and summer cooling loads face

         17  reliability constraints because of potential

         18  interruptions to the raw fuels that drive boilers

         19  and generators.

         20                 New generation facilities that will

         21  be required to meet the long-term electric

         22  requirements throughout our region are most likely

         23  to increase demand for clean, natural gas, rather

         24  than for more fuel oil or coal.

         25                 An increased availability of natural

                                                            176

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  gas supply should strengthen the environment for

          3  building new and/or rebuilding existing generating

          4  facilities.

          5                 Second, any increase in supply

          6  promises competitive pressure to reduce costs. Both

          7  the costs of natural gas used for heat and the cost

          8  of electricity generated by natural gas. Fairly

          9  simple economics, supply and demand. You're going to

         10  increase the supply, the chances are good that it

         11  will have a strong impact in reducing pricing.

         12                 In addition, I believe the Broadwater

         13  Project promises significant environmental benefits

         14  for our entire region. I see two distinct types of

         15  environmental benefits. Simply put, natural gas

         16  burns far cleaner than fuel oil, or coal, or many of

         17  the other fuel types that would be replaced,

         18  displaced or augmented by the actual gas coming in

         19  through Broadwater.

         20                 Accordingly, the atmospheric benefit

         21  promised by increase the ratio of natural gas to

         22  fuel oil is undeniable. Perhaps a less frequently

         23  discussed benefit, and one that may only be seen in

         24  my mind, and it's harder to quantify, is the fact

         25  that the potential benefit of reduced shipments of
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          2  fuel oil to our region. At the very least, increased

          3  natural gas supply should reduce the rate of

          4  increased oil shipments.

          5                 Anyone who has walked the beach along

          6  our Eastern Seaboard from Maine to Florida is likely

          7  to have seen the tar deposits associated with the

          8  massive oil tankers that sail our Eastern Seaboard.

          9  Although major disasters, such as the Exxon Valdez's

         10  incident several years ago grabbed tremendous media

         11  attention, tanker rupture and leakage continues on

         12  smaller scales as evidenced by the tar on our

         13  beaches.

         14                 I understand that there is no history

         15  of LNG ship failure in the five decades that LNG has

         16  been transported across the globe. Of course, the

         17  technical complexity of shipping this specialized

         18  fuel warrants far greater infrastructure integrity

         19  so the opportunity for failure is reduced

         20  accordingly.

         21                 If there were a breach of the ship

         22  carrying LNG, however, the substance leaked would

         23  leak to atmosphere and readily dissipate without

         24  creating environmentally damaging oil slicks.

         25                 Finally, I believe the Broadwater
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          2  Project offers significant national security benefit

          3  to our region and to our nation. Regrettably, we

          4  continue to use far more energy than we have

          5  available today locally, increasing our access to

          6  LNG shipped from all corners of the globe, but not

          7  from the politically tumultuous Middle East helps

          8  reduce our dependence upon foreign oil. It's largely

          9  acknowledged that the extent of our current reliance

         10  on fuel oil from the Mid East increases our exposure

         11  to terrorist pressures directly and indirectly.

         12                 Equally important, the proposed

         13  location of the Broadwater Project region's

         14  attractiveness as a terrorist target. Foundation of

         15  terrorism is fear, and fear is exacerbated by human

         16  casualties. An LNG refueling point in the middle of

         17  the Long Island Sound and more than nine miles away

         18  from the coastline represents much less of a

         19  terrorist threat than the fuel depots in the harbors

         20  of New York, Long Island or Connecticut.

         21                 Thank you very much for your kind

         22  attention to my perspectives on this project.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Bomke. I appreciate your coming here today and

         25  giving us your comprehensive testimony.
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          2                 Mr. Bomke, you, like all of the

          3  witnesses that testified before us today, everybody

          4  made, you know, very compelling statements, and I'm

          5  grateful to each and every witness that came

          6  forward. Everyone added something to this

          7  discussion. It's a difficult discussion certainly,

          8  but I am grateful to all that came forward and gave

          9  the benefit of their views.

         10                 And, so, now I know a lot more than

         11  when I first started the hearing. That's always like

         12  where you want to be. That's why you have them. So,

         13  I appreciate you, David, and everyone coming to

         14  testify today.

         15                 With no one else wishing to be heard,

         16  this hearing is adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 2:55 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 26th day of June 2007.
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         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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